Editorial:



PLIGHT OF KASHMIRI DETENUES

The letters sent to the office of PCHR by the Kashmiri detenues lodged in different jails of India are shocking. Most of the detenues have been implicated in false, frivolous and fabricated cases, by Delhi Police Special Cell. After the armed insurgency broke out in J&K, large number of Kashmiri diasporas, particularly students and businessmen preferred to move outside to different parts of India, students to pursue academic careers and businessmen for earnings.  However, after the terrorist acts in Indian states police and Intelligence Agencies made these Kashmiris as scapegoats. Every time when there was bomb blast, the Intelligence Agencies blame Kashmiris. These detenues are facing layers of problems at different stages. 


The first ordeal is, these detenues are facing the media trials.  The electronic and print media sensationalize the arrests and in most of the cases the detenues are coerced to make an extra judicial confession, which influences the minds of general masses and to some extent the judges conducting their trials. One can understand the maltreatment by army and police interrogation centers in J&K, which are illegal entities and are not even approved by AFSPA, but in jails things at least are regulated by jail manuals. Already, the conditions of jails in India according to book ‘Indian Jails’ is worst but what compounds the problems for Kashmirs are that with the tag of ‘terrorists’ they are subjected to severe mistreatment and different types of torture. The rights to detenues /convicts are granted under the constitution but same have been deprived to them.  They are detained incommunicado; the standards of fair trials are denied to them.


In jails, they are deliberately kept with the hardcore criminals who of their own are torturing them and occasionally use violence against them. According to a human rights activist who is facing trial at Delhi, was sodomised in jails by the police constables at the behest of the officers. He further alleged that many times his jail mates by sharp razor known as blade baaz tried to kill him. Another female political activist who was detained in Tihar jail for five years was kept in a cell where prostitutes and women drug peddler were lodged who were booked in the Suppression of Immoral Trafficking Act.  She was thoroughly humiliated. A Kashmiri rickshaw puller was arrested by Delhi police in summer 2001, besides, torture, his right arm was tattooed with Hindu deities. This happened because they are Kashmirs and therefore labeled as terrorists. 


According to Kashmir High Court Bar Association, which visited to different Indian jails time to time to monitor the condition of detenues have observed in their reports, that the detenues are deprived of legal assistance, as the Bar Associations of different states have boycotted to appear for Kashmiri detenues. The amicus curie appointed by the court lack professionalism and they are only interested in dealing the cases. The non-production of detenues before trial courts is common; the police avoid it because of the ‘unavailability’ of scouts / movement orders. According to HCBA reports, the serious aspect is the lack of medical care, which is mandatory under the jail manuals. Even detenues suffering from cardiac disorders are not provided medical care. Another disturbing aspect is insensitivity of Indian judiciary which has been facing sever criticism in past, to address the plight of the impoverish sections of the Indian people particularly Dalits. In some social action litigations filed by civil society activists, at least courts has taken cognizance and have passed the orders to for mitigating sufferings of under trials, e.g. Bihar.  However, in Kashmir related matter the judiciary has not come to the expectations of the people. All the internationally recognised standards of fair trials have been ignored by the Apex Court of India. The courts have demonstrated insensitivity and callous indifference because of prejudicial mindset, which has been reported in different reports published by the civil society groups from Delhi. Masooda Parveen’s case analyzed by PUDR in the report ‘Missing in Action’ is important in this behalf. 


The family members of the detenues who would in thousands are a miserable lot. Due to lack of organized legal assistance, they are moving from pillar to post to arrange justice for their relatives. Last year an unsuccessful attempt was made by JKCCS after starting an initiative ‘Relatives for Fair Trial’ to organize the relatives for making fair trial an issue. After several meetings, it could not take off. The relatives’ individually only approach to press enclave occasionally but have failed to evolve for collective efforts. Bar association has conducted hunger strikes to highlight the plight of detenues. The ICRC since 1996, has got mandate from the Government of India, only on focusing the condition of detenues and since more than twelve years, notwithstanding, their visits to different jails and annul reports, (which they share only with the government), it has not made much difference. At the beginning, there was optimism on their presence but now it has evaporated.  Some of the detenues mostly political activists have evolved a modus operandi to see the relatives who are unable to travel outside, by filing frivolous criminal cases against themselves in local courts i.e. Chief Judicial Magistrate Court in Srinagar so that they can meet their relatives at least on the government expanses and could visit their native state.  Their number is very few by and large hundreds of detenues incarcerated in different Indian jails of India who have not seen their dear ones from years. Some detenues have become mental rack, and some of them are detained for more than ten year and now have vegetative existence. How to address these problems when whole system police, media, judiciary is against them? All the International recognized rights of fair trials have been denied to them is the question to the Civil Society. We wakeup only when in the high profile case like Afzal Guroo’s the hang man’s noose is around, then there are noises and noises but no concrete action plans. 

9TH CLASS STUDENT KILLED IN CUSTODY BY RR TROOPS

BOY WAS PICKED UP BY SOLDIERS ON APRIL 5, AND DESPITE PLEAS BY FAMILY POLICE HAS NOT FILED AN FIR

May 1: Custodial murder of a 9th class student allegedly by the soldiers of army’s 6 Rashtriya Rifles battalion triggered massive protests in Villgam area in Handwara. 

The soldiers of 6 Rashtriya Rifles battalion of army arrested Mushtaq Ahmad Mir son of Ghulam Muhammad resident of Shalla Dooru in Kupwara on the night of April 5 outside his home. A woodcutter in the nearby forest found his decomposed body on May 1. According to Mushtaq’s mother he had come out of his home to urinate when a patrolling party of the soldiers from a nearby camp picked him up. 

 “I fell on their feet and pleaded them to leave my son but they took him away,” Mushtaq’s mother said.

Relatives of the victim said, Mushtaq’s mother accompanied by the lumberdar of the village went to the camp next morning in search of her son but she was asked to come in the afternoon. “When Mushtaq’s mother arrived in the afternoon she was threatened by the troops and asked to go away,” relatives of victim said. 

 
Relatives of Mushtaq had on number of occasion approached Villgam police station for getting a case registered against the accused troops but even after 26 days police failed to register the case or provide any help to the family.

 
 As soon as the news spread in the villages thousands of people came out of their houses and shouted anti-army and anti-India slogans and staged a massive protest. 

The protesters were saying that Mushtaq was arrested by troops and later killed in custody. The protesters said there were signs of brutal torture on the body. They were demanding a probe into the killing. Police officials of the Villgam police station said they are investigating about the involvement of army under inquest proceedings.” We are investigating as who have killed the youth,” said superintendent of police Handwara Dr Haseeb Mughal and hoped a break through soon. SP said that samples had been sent Forensic Science Laboratory,” We have got the samples and have sent them to analysis.”

A middle rank police officer, who is the part of police team investigating the death said, “We are probing the involvement of 6 RR as people allege that they have seen army patrol in the area on day Mushtaq went missing.

A team of doctors of primary health center Vilgam, headed by the Dr Ashiq Hussain Block medical officer (BMO) Vilgam conducted the postmortem of body. BMO told media that” there were trauma injuries on his body,” he said and added,” He has died due to torture”. The doctor added that Mushtaq was beaten ruthlessly.

BMO said that the doctor’s team and a police party visited the spot and got soil for chemical analysis,” he said and added,” it is being ascertained that what sort of equipment has been used during the beating.”

Army spokesman Lt Col A K Mathur told media,” The person (Mushtaq) was mentally deranged and has died somehow. Army never picked him up. Police has refused to register a case against Army. The people’s allegations are baseless.”

Reacting to the incident J&K State Human Rights commission (SHRC) has decided to take up the issue for investigation. A statement of the SHRC says the murder of the student is a gross violation of human rights. “The case is admitted in the court for hearing,” the statement adds. “A notice must immediately be issued to the director general of police and the deputy commissioner Kupwara to furnish a detailed report in the case before next hearing.”  
TRAUMA IN PRISON

Letters emanating from behind the bars of the Tihar Jail are revealing spine chilling stories of how young Kashmiri youth were picked up, framed for none of their fault and then subjected to torture to obtain their confession of their involvement in subversive activities before the national media. Interestingly, the allegedly framed young Kashmiri's had faith in the Indian judicial system but that too disappoint them. 

RESPECTED AND HONORABLE EDITORS OF ALL THE DAILIES OF KASHMIR

Asalammualaikum, 

My name is Mirza Nisar Hussain r/o Khankha Mohalla, Srinagar. My father was dealing in Handicrafts.  I was only 10 years old when the armed resistance broken out against the India occupation in 1989. I occasionally used to go to Delhi with my father to learn business. My elder brother Iftikar was already in the business with father. Meanwhile, my father passed away. Thereafter, Iftikar took the business responsibility. I had to quit School to assist my brother in business and to make honest earnings. Finally, we started to visit Nepal and Delhi to promote the business. 

In 1996, in Lajpath Nagar, Delhi there was a bomb blast and the police were on arrest spree and the Kashmiris from all parts of Delhi were arrested and harassed without any investigation. They were held responsible for triggering blast. After police failed to track down the real perpetrators they implicated Kashmiris in order to get away from their responsibilities. It is worthwhile to mention here that Special Cell of Delhi police usually resorts to this type of practice to quell the public anger. 

Hardly anyone cares when Kashmiris are implicated in any part of India whenever there were any explosion or any sort of violent incident. The police create bogus evidences against the arrested Kashmiris to prove their claims right. Few days after the blast my brother along with four other Kashmiris were arrested from Delhi and my brother was accused of helping Kashmiri Mujahideen (freedom fighters). I was also arrested from Nepal then I was only 15 years old. I was shifted to Delhi where Delhi police’s Special Cell ruthlessly tortured me without having any evidence against us. The police created fabricated evidences and made a false case against us. We were ignorant about the legal proceedings as we have never gone though it. 

My brother was just 18 years old then and we were the only source of income to our family. After arrest we had no expectations from our family as they had no means to render any support or even come to Delhi to meet us. There were large-scale protests against our arrest in the valley but unfortunately no one pays any heed when it comes to Kashmiri Muslims. The protesters were met with butts and batons. The protestors were also threatened of dire consequences if they continue agitation. 

We were lodged in jail for 4 years without any charge only the dates for hearings were the routine of the court. We were deprived of any legal assistance for 4 years as we have experienced that lawyers are the part of system. But alas! They too were not provided to us in the largest democracy of the world. Eventually, a lawyer who was an extension of intelligence agencies was provided to us by the state, who conceded to everything whatever the allegations were against us. But see the justice of God the bogus witnesses proved wrong. The court after hearing the witnesses who categorically and unambiguously cleared us from the charges leveled against us. But unfortunately, it was a bitter experience to see a court acting as an extension of state agencies. They were recording those things, which were directed to them by the intelligence agencies. When the witnesses failed to prove anything against us, the proceedings were stretched. We were denied bail. When we asked judges about the reason they were showing their helplessness and replying by saying “that they are directed to do so.” Now years have passed justice is yet to prevail. We are behind bars for 13 years now without any blame i.e. we have completed the life term imprisonment. 

All the arguments were heard in our case. Unfortunately 50 judges have been changed so far and the judgment is yet to be given. According to law the judge who hears the case is supposed to pronounce the judgment but in our case the law has changed. In the month of January 2008 twenty judgments were pronounced but in our case judges adopted the delaying tactics and dragged the case till March and subsequently he was also transferred. On asking the judge about our case he said, “on the basis of rule of law, evidences and witnesses you have been proved innocent but the government wants to punish you what can I do, that is why I am keeping the case pending which is injustice too.”  

Respected countrymen we exert every effort at our disposal, we produced Supreme Court judgments on the fact of law that the judge who hears the case must pronounce the judgment but no one cared. No judge has pronounced judgment in our case. So far we have completed the life term and still we are not released.  Now I am 27 years old and my brother turned 30. Alas! Our relatives arranged the marriages of our sisters and we could not contribute to their marriages. 

Dear editors I, appeal your good self to convey this message to the public at large through good offices and appeal them to do something for we hapless people. Inform the people about the plight of those who are languishing in different detention centers without any fault. Let public know that India has a judicial system, which has two faces one for her own citizens and another for Kashmiris. How can we expect justice from such a state? I don’t know. 

I have full faith in Kashmiri civil society and expect their help in this regard. I am hopeful that they will not let us down.    

Wasalaam Mirza Nisar Hussain; Detained in High Security Ward; Jail 1 Tihar. 

SURREAL STORY OF KU PHD ASPIRANT
An aspirant of doctorate in zoological sciences Parveez Ahmed Radoo was set to board a flight of Spice-Jet to Pune for getting admission but was gagged up by a gang of seven to eight unidentified persons at the New Delhi airport and taken to an undisclosed location. 

Parveez wrote in his letter:  

Then they started an unanticipated interrogation, they beat me ruthlessly and the time, my senses worked, they kept giving me choicest of abuses for reasons unknown to be. 


It was September 12, 2006, when I landed in the clutches of the special cell of Delhi Police. The officers in the special cell asked me to ring up his friend at Pune and asked me to handover my   mobile SIM card which I had left with my friend, to their conduit at Pune. 


On September 13, 2006, it was the day when I was given a new name by the officials, Iqbal. They gave me an I-card by this name and took me to Pune by Spice-Jet flight. A police team probably from Pune was waiting for my arrival. They took me again to an unknown destination and subjected me to severe mental harassment. 


The pain and agony of being in the captivity of police was getting intensified. Back home, my family was awaiting a phone call from me who, for them, was busy seeking admission in doctorate in Pune. However, this did not happen. On September 14, I was taken to a shop at Pune from where the officials collected around Rs.10 lakh from a shopkeeper. Their talks confirmed that it was Rs.10 lakh. Thereafter, the team returned to New Delhi along with me and took me to Lodhi Colony where I was again kept in illegal confinement. 


I was being tortured on regular basis by the special cell of Delhi Police. The officials took me to an undisclosed location on September 16 and kept me there for around one month. I thought to reveal the details of the places and persons in the court. Though illegal confinement is a crime yet Delhi Police neither informed my parents nor took me to the court. I was forced to call my parents and tell them that I had got a job at Pune and would come home after some time.


I got an introduction with another grim reality of how police manipulates the system at the Hospital where I was supposedly taken for medical examination. While I anticipated a through check-up, doctors who did not attend to me prepared the medical examination report and handed it over to the officials who were accompanying me.  The ugliest face of the system was the manner in which I was produced before a lady magistrate for being taken on remand. I was put under tremendous stress and threatened of dire consequences. The officials ordered me to narrate the story, which they had written and I was forced to learn it by heart. 


The story, which I narrate according to police officials before the magistrate, goes like this: "I was coming from Mumbai by Golden Temple Express to Nizamuddin to hand over Rs. 10 lakh and 3 Kg of RDX to some Tariq at Azadpur Mandi. But that Tariq did not come and meanwhile, police party caught hold of me. To my surprise, the magistrate did not ask me any question and I was sent on remand. I was forced to fill-up numerous rail reservation forms and then ordered to put my signature over them. Naming one Ram Gopal, I served him food and other eatables during his confinement. The police assured me that I would be released after the Eid, which were few days away. The only relaxation, which was given to me by those officials, was that he could call his parents and talk to them but for not more than five minutes. They were insisting me to leave the job and return home. But my lips had been silenced by the officials of the special cell. 


Even at times, I would myself maintain silence, thinking that as soon as the ordeal would be over, I would return home and narrate every incident to my family and weep bitterly to overcome this bitterness which I was experiencing. Thereafter the worst happened which I had never imagined.


It was October 20, 2006. A Sub-inspector Vinay Tyagi and Havaldar Satish were standing besides me and we were before the journalists both from the print and electronic media. ‘I, the terrorist, branded by Delhi police had come to explode bombs on the occasion of sacred Hindu festival Deepawali and a team of Delhi police nabbed me after a brief chase. This was the script of the drama being enacted by police and I knew I had become a scapegoat of the ambitions of these police officers.


Every click of the photojournalist's camera was taking me closer to a world where I was a stranger. I aspired for a doctorate in zoological sciences but was trapped in an unpredictable situation. The young scholar is perturbed over the manner in which national media desisted from asking the police about the details of the incident. 


They (Media) are busy propagating the content of the militancy related FIR's which are lodged mostly against innocent Kashmiri youths for getting rewards and monetary benefits. 


Presently lodged in jail no.1, Ward no 1, Barrack no 2 of the Tihar Jail, my faith in the Indian judicial system has suffered a severe blow yet. I am writing this letter with the hope that I will get justice without delay. Justice BAL Krishnan, I appeal before your good self to provide me fair trial and give me justice to facilitate me in going back to my normal life with my old parents. This is must for restoration of my faith in the Indian democratic system since I could be the silver line at the end of the completely dark tunnel.

FATHER FIGHTS FOR RELEASE OF AERONAUTICAL ENGINEER SON

DELHI POLICE SAYS HE IS LASHKAR OPERATIVE

April 8: Ghulam Rasool Pir is an exhausted man. He is fed up of countless visits to Delhi for court hearings of his son, Imran Ahmed, an aeronautical engineer, currently detained in Tihar jail. Pir says Ahmed was innocent and was arrested on fabricated charges. He said he is eagerly waiting for the release of his son who is waiting for the money order he posted him to the jail on February 1. “My son was innocent. And I would fight for his innocence, until he is released from unjustified detention” Pir, who hails from Magam, Handwara said.

“I am an ill-fated father. My son is an intelligent and a diligent boy. He does not deserve this treatment,” he adds.

The special cell of Delhi Police arrested Pir’s son, Ahmed, on November 16, 2006 on charges of his alleged affiliations with Lashkar-e-Toiba militant outfit. The police subsequently sent him to Tihar jail where he is currently imprisoned.

“Police picked him from his rental flat at Dwaraka,” Pir said. “They also stole Rs 4.5 lakh from his apartment, which his father sent him for purchasing a flat in Delhi and incriminated him with false charges. They said he provided financial help to the Lashkar. They also said he was an active cadre of the outfit. It is not true,” he said. “Now my son is imprisoned at Tihar jail,” he added.

Recollecting Ahmed’s past wistfully, Pir traverses through his son’s early school days through high school and finally to his college days when he was selected for aeronautical engineer. “He made me proud,” he said. “Ahmed toiled day and night to reach that place. For his excellent academic career, he was selected at Rajiv Gandhi Memorial College of Aeronautics, Jaipur. After spending four years, he joined Amritsar flying club for practical training.”

The real joy for Pir was ahead. In October 2006, Ahmed got a job in Spice Jet, a private airline company. However, his merriment was short lived.” Just few days before his joining, the Delhi police arrested him,” Pir said holding back tears. “It was a real shock for us.” Since then, life has got from bad to worse for Pir’s family.

“We regularly visit Delhi for court hearings and to meet our son,” he said. “This has drained us physically as well as monetarily. ”He explicitly puts across his views about Ahmed’s detention.“ If Delhi Police have charged him, why don’t they produce a witness before the court? Why are they deferring the case,” Pir said. “On each court hearing, they seek excuses and add to our sufferings. During one year they have produced only four witnesses whereas showed 10 witnesses in the challan. It is really a joke that all witnesses are policemen,” he said.


Pir is resolute to fight for his son. At the same time, he is not able to hold back his fatherly feelings.“ Ahmed is living in a pathetic condition at Tihar,” he said. “On February 1, 2008, I posted a money order of Rs 1000 for him from Jamia Masjid Post Office, New Delhi. However until now he has not received the money. I want to know where that that money order has gone. Why hasn’t it reached my son?” He has approached many top authorities for the release of his son. “I appealed the President, Prime Minister and Home Minister of India to release my son. I also appealed the Chief Minister. But nobody heard my plea,” he rued.

IN ANOTHER LETTER A DETAINEE WROTE
A gas-distributor, Mohammad Iqbal Jan with his friend Mushtaq Ahmad Kaloo had booked a Jet Airways flight to Delhi on 14 November. From the IGI airport, they had hired an auto-rickshaw and checked in at the hotel, Rest-In. Iqbal was carrying the money to be deposited in the company’s Chandigarh office. 

Iqbal in his letter wrote:


“Ussi Ka Shahr, Wohi Mud’daie Wohi Munsif – Mujhe Maloom Tha Mera Qasoor Nikle Ga (City theirs, pretender theirs; theirs is the judge – I knew they’d find a fault in me),”

I and my friend were picked up by Delhi police from an old Delhi hotel on 16, November but were shown arrested from old Delhi’s railway station. They (Delhi police) abducted us on gun point immediately after we checked out from the hotel, Rest-In, and bundled us in an Indica car. 


They asked us to produce our identity cards, which we did. They checked our suitcases. I was carrying Rs. 5, 50,000 with me out of which I had paid Rs. 18,000 to Delton Industries at Pritampur. Their eyes lit up on seeing the cash and they snatched it. When I resented, they threatened to kill us. 


They took us to Lodhi Colony where a special cell of Delhi police functioned and tied our hands to tables like animals. On 27 November, they told us that we’d be freed and instructed us to take bath and put on new clothes. They brought us to the old Delhi railway station in the night. They removed our jackets and took away our belongings.


The moment we were on the road, some policemen shouted, Pakdo, Pakdo (catch them, catch them). Some more cops appeared which were brought in the same vehicle that had just dropped us and pushed us into the car. I saw my suitcase lying open on the road with my belongings scattered. Strangely, there was a box lying nearby which did not belong to me. When I asked what it was, they said, there’re sweets in it. They took us back to their office and the next day they got a 10-day remand from a mobile magistrate at 6 p.m. using a rear entry to his office.


We were asked to parade before the media. The police threatened us if we opened our mouth before the press, they would kill us and our family. The police fabricated the case like this: ‘The duo was to collect a box of RDX from a person, Raju of Deoband at old Delhi railway station. The police apprehended the duo when they were waiting for him. A person namely Sikander Khan was made a public witness to the case’. This is how the Delhi police cooked up the story and got us falsely implicated. 


Back home, the senior superintendent of police, Varmul, has issued a non-involvement certificate in our favour. Even the village lumberdar has certified the accused of their non-involvement in militant activities.  I’m ready to face a CBI probe.


If I have done anything wrong, let me be punished. I don’t want to languish in the jail as an under-trial indefinitely.


Our kin travel all the way from Kashmir and the authorities do not allow them to meet us. We’ve been kept amongst hardcore criminals. They let us out only for one hour in the day. In the scorching heat, we’re not given a drop of water to drink. They abuse us whenever we raise our voice and even say bad things to our religion. If at all, we’ve done something wrong, why do they abuse our religion?  


Incidentally, the letter has come around the time when several reputed human rights activists from all over India had converged on Kashmir’s capital, Srinagar, to unleash their concern over the inhuman conditions of innocent natives in various jails across the country.  A letter by India’s leading human rights activists to the National Human Rights Commission (NHRC) to “probe the communal policies of the Tihar authorities” has once again brought into sharp focus the malady which afflicts the custodians of law.

KASHMIRI ENGINEER COMPLETES 12 YEARS IN DELHI JAIL

FAMILY APPEALS PRESIDENT FOR HIS RELEASE

May 23: It was on May 23, 1996 that a Kashmiri Engineer, Farooq Ahmad Khan, of south Kashmir’s Islamabad district was arrested by the Special Operations Group of Police, accusing him of being involved in bomb blasts in various Indian cities.   

 Despite passing of over a decade, the charges against Khan are yet to be proved. Though his family has appealed the President Pratibha Patil to get him released, Khan- as a memoir of his 12 years in jail- has penned down a letter seeking “freedom of Kashmiris from chains.”  

 “I am a Mechanical Engineer and was arrested on frivolous charges of undertaking blasts in Jaipur and Delhi. I was arrested for the reason that my family was politically active. I am living the life of an unknown prisoner in the jails in Delhi for past 12 years. I have been framed. Allah is my witness,” it reads.  

 “Precious years of my life have been wasted in the jails. I know the pain of living as a prisoner. Kashmiris also are prisoners in their homeland and my only desire before death is to see them free from Indian occupation.”  

 But Khan said the lack of consensus between the pro-freedom leaders has hampered the freedom of Kashmiris. 

“They (pro-freedom leaders) should rise above their ideologies and take the freedom movement to its logical conclusion. They should free Kashmiris from chains. Human life has no value in Kashmir which is evident from unabated human rights violation by Indian troops,” it states.  

 
Khan writes that Kashmiri youth have sacrificed their life for freedom of their homeland. “But India and Pakistan are unmoved. How can they forget the sacrifices of Kashmiris? People are not fighting for elections but freedom,” he writes. 

 
Khan’s cousin, Rafiq Ahmad told media that Court had acquitted him in one of the cases, “but he was not even granted bail.” 

“If India calls itself a democratic country, the accused cops who framed Khan must be punished. We appeal the president to get Khan released from the hell,” he said.

TORTURE TESTIMONIES

CASE 1

First name: Mohammad Ali Zargar

Sex: male

Age: 65 years

Occupation: Full time political worker (JKLF) 

Residential address: Rafiabad, Baramullah

The torture, Mohammad Ali Zargar, was subjected to by several security agencies can arise the feeling of fear, anger and shame in any human being, as he was tortured to such an extent that he lost his sexual potency and about half of his memory power.  

Before the commencement of armed struggle in Jammu and Kashmir, Zargar was a constable in J&K police, but when the struggle started in 1989, he could not resist himself to cross the LOC to get arms training. On his return he was positioned as Commander in JKLF. But after being active for some years he was arrested by BSF 100 Battalion on 14th December 1992 at Sopore, during a siege. After his arrest he was shifted to several interrogation centers and jails where he was brutally tortured, by applying dreadful and shameful methods. 

“From the place of the arrest, I was taken to Sopore Mandi which used to be BSF headquarters then, where they put me into special room and tortured me brutally. They first stripped me naked and poured cold water over my head and beat me severely with lathis (sticks). After that they first inserted wooden stick and then hot iron rod into my rectum with which blood started oozing out from my rectum. Then they applied electric current to my private parts. They used to hang me upside down after tying my feet and beat me severely. Once they beat me so brutally that one of the bones on my buttocks got dislocated. The same torture methods continued for about hundred days. But I was never taken to any doctor. I remember one day their officer came to the camp, who beat me cruelly. After beating me for hours he asked me if I want something to eat?  I told him that I want a cigarette and a cup of tea. He offered a cigarette, and ordered for a cup of tea in which he poured some powered Mushiq Kafoor (scented substance which is applied to dead people before their burial) in front of me. The substance if consumed leads to sexual impotency. The officer promised me that if I take the mixture he would not torture me and if I didn’t he would kill me. Having no other option, I forcibly drank it, but he did not keep his promise, he beat me continuously with sticks, purposely on joints. After that I was shifted to notorious interrogation center-Papa-2. I spent there four months under continuous torture, once they took me to the special torture room, which was called Qatil Khanna (Murderer Room). About which it is believed that person subjected to torture there does not come alive. When I was taken there I felt that it is end of my life they tortured me ruthlessly there. They inserted iron rod into my private part and applied current to through it after tying another wire to my toes and sometimes to temples. The intensity of current was so strong that it would jolt me two to three feet high. While applying the current they would shout indecent remarks.  I, by Allah’s grace bore the torture and returned alive. The condition in the interrogation center was pathetic. They had accommodated many of us in a single small room, where the eating and defecating was in close proximity. They did not allow us to bath with which our hair and clothes were teemed with lice. I remember I would get handful of lice over my back, which I used to put in the urinal tin in the room. From here I was then shifted to Kot Bhalwal jail for sixteen months, where I was booked under Public Safety Act. There the conditions were bit better. After that they shifted me to Sungrur, Punjab jail, which was notorious prison, but here I became Amiri Zindan (head of jail prisoners) and we fought for our jail rights together. From there I was released in 1995.

              
After his release, Ali took the arms again and in 1996, he was among the militants who were trapped during Dargah Hazratbal siege. One month after the siege was lifted (which was done after bilateral negotiations), he was arrested again and taken to JIC (Joint Interrogation Center) Baramulla, where he was tortured by applying rollers over his legs. From there he was handed over to STF who took him to Zangil ( kupwara).

 
“At Zangil, I was not tortured, but once during interrogation, one of the interrogators put a gun on my neck and said he would kill me. I chanted some prayers and was ready to get killed but he did not pull the trigger. I told him it is better for him to kill me as I am not going to tell you anything.”
Ali is now a full time political worker of JKLF and is usually arrested during the protest rallies, which has become routine part of his life. Due to rigorous torture and untimely medical cure he has developed several complicacies. As during his detention period he was never taken to doctor and due to acquired impotency he has not married.

CASE 2
First name: Noor Mohammad Kathjoo.

Sex: male

Age: 34 years

Occupation: Full time political worker (JKLF) 

Residential address: Malarata, Bori Kadal, Srinagar.

Youthful passion and exuberance drew Noor Mohammad towards armed freedom struggle of Jammu and Kashmir, but little of those high sprits are there in the man he now is. The harassment and torture he had to bear from the security forces has turned him feeble. His pain of loss sometimes makes him so desperate that he imagines he could return to armed struggle but his apathetic condition does not allow him to do anything beyond imagination.

      
 Bringing out the nostalgic memories of his arrest and subsequent torture he says, “ I became the part of the freedom struggle in 1980, when I started the new Tanzeem (party) namely ‘Al-Maqbool’, along with my friends like Javeed Mir, Yasin Malik, Shakeel Bakshi and others. I was first arrested in 1984, when we burned the posters of Shiekh Abdullah to protest against the ban imposed on Umar Mukhtar based film “ The Lion of Deserts”. I along with other friends was kept in Srinagar Central Jail for about fifty days. After my release I continued my freedom struggle, but when armed struggle started here I also like others in 1990, went to other side of border to get arms training, but on my return I was arrested on border. We were around 40 companions coming to this side of border, on the way we saw we were entering into Indian military zone as we could see army tents from nearby distance. I suspect our guide was an army informer who had deliberately taken us to that path. After some time we found ourselves cardoned by army, we hide ourselves behind bushes. The army first asked us to surrender, when five of our boys stepped forward to surrender, army shot them down. After that they fired indiscriminately on us, I along with other two companions managed to escape from the scene. One of us was injured and I was also slightly bruised. But while eluding we were arrested on another spot, before that we had managed to hide our arms somewhere among stones. When we were arrested I had rupees 40,000 with me, which were taken by one of the army personnel. They beat us severely and asked for our weapon, they threatened us to kill. We had actually forgotten the hiding place of weapons. When we were beaten ruthlessly one of the companion among us took them to another place to get weapons only to save him from torture, but fortunately there was some weapon, which they seized then. It was by chance, we did not know who had put weapons there. After that they took us to another place called Mazjil, village. There all the villagers were assembled by army at one place and were forced to spit upon us. They all one by one spat, which was much shameful for we people. They were forced to do so as one of the villagers apologized me softly while spitting. Then they took us to Zargil camp in Kupwara for twenty days. There we were subjected to ruthless torture. They kept us in small cell where eating and defecating was in close proximity. During initial days we used to urinate in the containers kept there, and we were forced to drink it. They kept our hands and feet continuously tied for twenty days. They did not give us food in plates; they would throw it on floor from which we would lick it like animals. They put us in pit for several hours that was covered with tin and fire put on it, with which we would suffocate. Everyday they used to beat us with cable wire for hours and made us to count loudly and endlessly; if somebody would stop he was subjected to ruthless beating. This counting would stop only during food and while going to urinate. Most pathetic thing is that while covering little distance to reach to the urinal, we had to get thrashing from every army person we met on the way. In order to save ourselves from this we very often used to avoid the idea of urinating. They inserted a small rod into my private organ and passed electric current through it, with which I suffered from erectile dysfunction for long time. They also applied current to my temples, which greatly affected my memory. Then they shifted me to BadamiBagh Srinagar where I was kept for 70 days. There I was also tortured ruthlessly, through several dreadful methods. There they kept me naked and would ask me different questions regarding my training in Pakistan and whereabouts of other militants. Then they shifted me to Kot Bhalwal Jail for two months and finally to Hiranagar jail for two years where from I was finally released. It was here my family members were allowed to meet me. During the jail term I was never taken to doctor for medical checkup which badly affected my life. After my release I made several checkups and several tests, which determined several neurological problems. The doctor has prescribed me not to do heavy physical work, before I used to sell copper utensils but doctor has debarred me to do so. I usually have prolonged headaches and anytime can fall down. I usually have pain in my back and joints. Now I have joined JKLF as a full time political worker. I know i am unable to do anything physically today, I cannot join armed struggle again which sometimes I feel the great urge of, but still I will not budge in retreat, I will continue my fight through political means to attain the freedom for my land.”

PROTEST IN SINGHPORA OVER YOUTH’S TORTURE

SCORES INJURED IN CLASH WITH POLICE

May 14: The arrest and torture of a Singhpora youth by the Sub Divisional Police officer (SDPO) Pattan triggered massive protests by the people on May 14 with the people resorting to heavy cane charging, tear-gassing and aerial firing to disperse them after they blocked the Varmul road. Scores of people have been injured some critically. Eight people have been arrested.

The protestors told media that Javed Ahmad Khan, a laboratory technician, had gone to the office of SDPO, Muhammad Yousuf Bandh, to register a complaint against growing incidents of crime in the area.

The officer beat up the complainant to pulp and released him in half-dead condition, the protestors said. Angry protestors hurled stones at the police and the traffic on Varmul road remained suspended for hours.

The protestors alleged that police barged into their houses and beat the inmates including women after rumors that some people had snatched weapons of policemen. They also alleged that police was hand in glove with the criminals in the area.

The Station House officer of Pattan police station however told media that police had tried to arrest some gamblers when people started protests. 

HANDWARA YOUTH DISAPPEARED

Life has become miserable for Ghulam Qadir Teli, an elderly frail person residing at Maidan Chogal, Tehsil Handwara in north district Kupwara. Ghulam Qadir’s son, Firdous Ahmad Teli, 22, has disappeared on November 25, 2006 after he left to visit a doctor in Sopore and since then his whereabouts are not known. Since the fateful instance Ghulam Qadir day in and day has been searching for his son and even approached different administrative authorities but so far no body could provide him a clue about his son. While looking for his son and seeking justice he visited office of The Informative Missive  and got documented the episode of his sons’ disappearance.

While narrating his anecdote he said, “In the ill-fated morning of November, 25, 2006 my son Firdous Ahmad who was then 22 years old left for his work at around 8am from his house.  He was a driver and used to drive the tractor of one of our neighbors and was feeding the family. But on that day there was no fuel in the tractor, then he told his owner to fill in the fuel in the tractor till that he would go to Sopore for visiting a Doctor Habibullah Matoo. He was suffering from pain in the right side of abdomen. After he left for Sopore he did not come back. We visited the doctor’s clinic and came to know that he had not reached there. Then we visited our relatives’ and his friends’ houses to see him but found nothing.”

He added, “On November 28, 06 I approached Police Station, Chogal and filed a missing report under No. 19/06. After few days’ as usual police told me that they searched him but could not find anything. I also went to Tral after there was an encounter and some persons were killed there I thought that he might have been picked up by some security agency and might have been killed but after I saw those dead bodies I could not find my son there. On another occasion I went to Shiva, Sopore to identify a dead body, who was killed by the troops but again I return back desperate. I search him in every nook and corner of state but could not locate him anywhere.” 

“I have also filed a petition in the State Human Right Commission in 2007 but so far there is no result or investigation in the matter. Now I don’t understand where I shall go and where to search him? I always remain sick because I am old and it is very difficult for to travel long in search of my son. What will I do now?” complained frail Ghulam Qadir.

He further added, “My son was never associated to any unlawful activity and this recollection always makes me worried that why if he was guilty of any thing wrong why fate met him in such a way. I had got him married on 8 November 05 and was hoping that he will father a baby but all my hopes shattered and now his wife went back to her maternal house. Till I am alive I will keep on searching my son.”

NOTED PEACE ACTIVIST HOSHIAR SINGH, WIFE SHOT DEAD BY ARMED 'PAK INTRUDERS' AT SAMBA; 5 HOSTAGES RESCUED

May 11: Noted peace and human rights activist Hoshiar Singh and his wife Shashi Bala were shot dead by two armed Pakistani intruders at Kehli Mandi area of Samba during the wee hours on May 11. A photojournalist Ashok Sodhi was among four others who were killed during the daylong encounter.

Five of the six persons who were made hostages by the intruders when they entered the house were rescued and both the alleged militants killed after a day long encounter which ended on the evening of May 11 at 5.45 PM. However, one of the hostages, a woman, was shot dead by the militants.

The army launched final assault after the hostages were rescued from the clutches of the militants at 4.45 PM using heavy weaponry and zeroing in on the house where the two militants were hiding. Within an hour both the militants were eliminated and the house in which the militants had taken shelter suffered massive damage. However, locals maintained that it took the police and army to reach the spot, at least 45 minutes after the first shot. The militants stormed into the house of Hoshiar Singh, General Secretary of Internationalist Democratic Party in Rakh Amb Tali village near Kehli Mandi at 6 AM in the morning and shot at his family members inside. While Hoshiar Singh and his wife Shashi Bala succumbed to their wounds inside the house on the spot, their two family members including Hoshiar Singh's daughter Bindu Devi, wife Kultar Singh and Bindu's mother-in-law Asha alias Darshana Devi, wife of Avtar Singh both residents of Amritsar sustained bullet injuries. The militants who were in army's combat dress and carrying latest weapons and big bags on their shoulders, then entered into another house of Suresh Singh and DP Singh, 100 meters away from the house of Hoshiar Singh at Kouda Mohalla in Rakh Amb Tali area. The militants fired upon a woman while entering in the house and she sustained serious injuries. The woman identified as Polli Devi, 42, wife of Dwarka Nath Sharma of Khadwal Samba remained in a pool of blood till she succumbed to her injuries. Her body was evacuated nine hours after she was shot at. The security forces failed to bring her out of the house due to the presence of militants there and she succumbed to her injuries there only. Polli Devi was putting up in the house of Suresh Singh in rented accommodation.

The gunshots created panic in the area and villagers, most of them Ex-servicemen took out their licensed guns to take on the militants, who took refuge inside the house. As the area, where the militants took hostage six persons, is thickly populated, the people putting up in the houses nearby locked their doors in panic and they hid themselves under the beds. Security forces and police were late in reaching and later launched an operation. Kulbhushan Singh one of the eyewitnesses who accompanied injured Bindu Devi to GMC hospital said that Bindu gave him a call on his cell phone when the militants opened fire at her family members. 

"I rushed to the nearby army unit and informed the jawans on sentry duty about the militant attack. They asked me to inform their officer who was sitting inside. The officer, he said, first noted his name and then assured of early operation. Kulbhushan Singh further said that he then informed the Sentries of JAT Regiment who further directed him to report the matter in Brigade. "I kept calling the Police Station Samba for fifteen minutes but nobody responded. I then rushed to Brigade and informed about the militant attack. One officer along with some jawans came to the spot and then the operation was launched.

Troops cordoned off the house from where the militants were firing and the huge exchange of firing took place between both sides. The militants captured five persons, including two children and three women as hostages inside the house.The militants fired intermittently engaging the security forces throughout the day.   

Ashok Sodhi, 45, son of Tarlok Sodhi resident of Old Rehari Jammu, a senior photojournalist of the Daily Excelsior- Jammu-based English Daily, also fell prey to the bullets while covering the operation. A bullet fired by the militants pierced through his temple when he made an attempt to click the photograph from an open space of a house few meters away from where the militants were holed up. He collapsed on the spot.He was the first journalist from Jammu region to be killed during the 18 years of insurgency in the state.

Later in the evening the security forces managed to break one of the walls of the house where the militants took hostage five persons and rescued them safely. After rescuing the hostages, the army launched final assault on the militants. The army jawans fired smoke shells and then blew up one of the rooms of the house using the heavy weaponary. Both the militants, believed by police to be associated with Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) outfit, were killed. 

Talking to the media persons on May 11, General Commanding Officer (GOC) 9 Corps Vinay Sharma did not rule out the possibility of freshly infiltrated militants in an encounter. He maintained, "There could be or could not be the link of today's attack with the militants who had sneaked into this side of the border. He averred that more militants may sneak into this side in coming days and apprehended that one to two militants are still present in Samba sector.

On May 12, The son of assassinated International Democratic Party (IDP) leader Hoshiar Singh and trade unionist Shashi Bala called for an impartial probe into their killings which he termed were “targeted” and “politically motivated”. He also did not rule out a possibility that the killings could be “state-sponsored”.

Talking to media, Singh and Bala’s son Lok Sewak said that the government should order an impartial probe into the killings as “they were targeted not randomly carried”.” We need to know the plot of the killings,” he said.

Sewak, a Political Science research scholar at the University of Jammu (JU), said, “The militant organizations take responsibility for every killing and gunfight. As no outfit has taken responsibility for these killings, I can smell something fishy about the entire affair.” He said that the killings of his parents could be “politically motivated”.

'KASHMIRI CHILDREN FACE VICTIMIZATION’

KU’S JOURNAL DEPICTS THEIR ‘MISERABLE PLIGHT’

May 30:  In a journal of Kashmir University’s law department released on May 30. A write-up titled Children—Victims of Torture: A Case Study of Kashmir in the journal -Kulr: Kashmir University Law Review by Dr Sheikh Showkat Hussain while quoting the news reports states that children continue to be “subjected to detention, torture and custodial killings in Kashmir.”  

“Police and security agencies often subject children to detention in order to get information about their kith and kin involved or perceived to be involved in militancy,” the article reads.

“Security agencies in Kashmir are not in need of cooking or concocting a story to cover up their act of custodial killing or torture because they are protected against any sort of legal action relating to such incidents by virtue of section 6 of Disturbed Area Act of 1997 and Armed Force Special Power Act.”

 Quoting the act the article reads the legislations after authorizing police and other security agencies “to kill a person or blast his premises on the basis of suspicion of their involvement in breach of public order immunize them from any suit or legal proceedings unless permitted by the state.”     

 The article reads that state seldom gives permission for prosecution and the central government has not granted approval to a single case even after the police completed investigations regarding these cases. 

 Quoting a news report published in Greater Kashmir dated January 14, 2007, Dr Showkat writes that although adequate safeguards do exists for protection of children under laws, children in Kashmir continue to be used as “human shields” during combat operations. “This practice continues till date.”

“Children are used for mine clearing activities, detained for indefinite periods without any reason, and in case a boy is involved in militancy his family is often harassed and humiliated. It is children who mostly become target of fake encounters and if parent of child get killed at the hands of security agencies they are not entitled to any relief and rehabilitation packages,” the article reads.

It reads: “Rape is used as a weapon of war to force an absconding militant to surrender. Even high officials of security agencies get involved in molesting teenaged girls. Children were deliberately targeted on many occasions by the security forces,” it adds. 

Referring to an incident of 1976 where Americo Pena and three police officials had kidnapped 17 year old Joelito, son of a Paraguayan social worker, Dr Filartiga and later killed him in custody by subjecting him to severe torture, Dr Showkat has written in the article that thousands of children of state are “subjected to same type of torture and custodial killings as were experienced by Joelito.” 

Quoting another news report published in a local newspaper, Dr Showkat said killing of four boys while playing cricket (in Doodhipora, Kupwara) is an example of such “deliberate killing.”

The article reads school going children especially the girls are harassed while on their way to school. “People don’t have much hope on the investigations undertaken by the State Human Rights Commission as the commission according to its former chairman, Justice (Retd) AQ Parray is toothless. 

Even the so-called relief and rehabilitation packages of security apparatus have proved to be lethal for children of Kashmir. One such ‘Goodwill’ gesture led to drowning of 22 school children and their teachers at the hands of security personnel in the Wular Lake. An enquiry commission established by the state has confirmed the negligence and mischief of navy personnel in the incident,” the article reads. 

The author has also come down heavily on Non-Governmental Organizations “pretending to be working for the betterment of children. The article reads these NGOs don’t deliver much but only provide avenues of employment and exploitation for those who manage and run them It reads children continue to suffer in Kashmir and the only way to rectify the situation is either to appoint a special rapporteur to monitor and look over the plight of children in Kashmir on the part of UN sub-commission on protection and promotion of human rights or the newly created human right council. Noted academicians from various universities, in and outside the state, have contributed their articles for the journal. Among others the authors and their write-ups include Suresh Shakeel Ahmad Samdani—changes in Muslim Personal Law: 

CRPF MEN RUN AMOK, INJURE 35

BEAT CHILDREN, MEDIA PERSONS IN FATEH KADAL, LATER APOLOGISE

May 9: Several people, most of them children and teenagers were injured when Central Reserve Police Force barged into a cricket ground at Brari Nambal near Fateh Kadal in Shehr-e-Khaas and thrashed several youth playing there. 

The incident is seen as retaliation to stone pelting on a CRPF bunker by some masked youth soon after the police and the troopers disrupted a rally led by Chairman of the All Parties Hurriyat Conference (G) Syed Ali Shah Geelani.  

Those injured include four media persons who were thrashed for ‘covering the incident.’ A spokesperson of CRPF in Srinagar has regretted the incident.

Reports said that soon after the Hurriyat chairman addressed a rally at Pather Masjid, people took out a procession shouting pro-freedom slogans. In the meantime, a large contingent of policemen reached there and used force to disperse them. The protesters peacefully resisted the security force barrier till Geelani asked them to disperse.  

However, the peaceful events suddenly turned violent when some masked youth appeared in the street and started pelting stones on a CRPF bunker, injuring two paratroopers. The paratroopers came out of the bunker and chased the youth through the narrow streets for some time. 

Though the situation was brought under control, the troopers later cordoned off a local playground and thrashed children who were playing cricket there. Eyewitnesses said that dozens of youngsters were beaten to pulp. At least 35 of them sustained injuries.

 “CRPF men entered the ground and started beating us with bamboo sticks, kicked us and dragged us on the ground,” said Hamid, a youth who was injured in the incident. While the thrashing was on, the paratroopers caught hold of some videographers and reporters covering the incident and started beating them up.

 
“When the troops saw us shooting the entire scene they tried to snatch our cameras. When we objected they severely thrashed us as well,” said Arshad Hussain, Star TV’s cameraperson in Srinagar, who was injured in incident. 

“A man in civvies, who was accompanying the CRPF, abused us. This is sheer hooliganism and attack of freedom of press,” Hussain said. Besides Hussain, camerapersons of IBN-7 news channel, Sen Channel and the correspondent of local English daily also suffered injuries.

CRPF REGRETS 

The public relation officer of the CRPF, Sudanshu Singh, in a statement said amidst heavy pelting of stones, CRPF and police chased miscreants. “During the unruly situation if unknowingly any CRPF personnel misbehaved with media men present over there, it is deeply regretted.” 

“The 160 battalion of CRPF is deployed in downtown area for the past over two decades and has been subjected to various provocative situations. But even then not a single incident of mishandling with press and media men had occurred,” the statement said.

ARMY STATEMENT ON HR RECORD

Says Out Of 1400, 26 Allegations Found True

May 15: The Army on May 15 said its record of human rights abuses is minimal as compared to violations by armies of other countries and only three per cent of accusations have been found true during 19 years. General Officer Commanding (GoC) 15 

Corps Lt Gen Mukesh Sabarwal on May 15 said that only 3 per cent of 1400 accusations of human rights abuses leveled against the army during 19 years has been found true and punitive action has been taken against the accused soldiers. 

“Only 26 accusations of human rights abuses committed by troops have been found true and 80 defaulters have been punished ranging from dismissal to 10 years rigorous imprisonment,” Lt Gen Sabarwal told the gathering during seminar “Exploration of Helpful Ideas for J&K” organized by army at its Haiderbeg camp. He said the troops found involved in committing rights abuses won’t be spared and would be punished. GoC 15 Corps said as compared to armies of other countries, the Indian army has committed minimum rights violations..

“Our endeavor is to constantly educate our soldiers about the sensitiveness of human rights for which such seminars would be conducted at different locations,” Lt Gen Sabarwal said. He alleged that deliberate attempts were made by militants and over ground workers (OGWs) to tarnish the image of forces. The Corps commander said the army understands human rights concerns and expresses such a feeling by conducting people friendly operations in which minimum force should be used. 

“The progress we have made has actually translated into vast improvement in security situation,” Lt Gen Sabarwal said. 

Prof Chintamani Mahapatra of Jawahar Lal University (JNU) while deliberating on “HR Concerns, Perceptions and Realities” said, “The reports prepared by international human rights groups and US State Department on Kashmir are motivated ones as the authors never visit the areas and interact with people.” 

He said the human rights issues were politicized and globally and militancy had direct link with HR abuses. 

Prof Chintamani said nobody was talking about rights abuses before 1989 as Pakistan was involved in Afghanistan and Kashmir was not on the radar. 

“The Pakistan wanted to replay what happened in Afghanistan in Kashmir and that is how it all began,” the professor said. He said that after 9/11, the contents of HR reports have changed and now the Human Rights Watch (HRW) and UN write one to two paragraphs against violations committed by militants. He exhorted that culprits involved in rights abuses should be punished and the decision of trials against soldiers should be made public otherwise the people would loose faith in these army trials.  

Executive Editor Force magazine Ghazala Wahab while speaking on the occasion said, “The army should admit if soldiers kill a person in mistaken identity.” 

She said the soldiers and officers in Rashtriya Rifles were reluctant to transfer as they received promotions on killing the militants during operation, which they refer as their huge achievement.

 “I have talked to many senior army officers who said that soldiers were killing militants for their promotions,” she said, adding the trend can leads to killing of innocent civilians and disappearances. Gazala said the ministry of Home affairs was giving conflicting figures about the number of complaints regarding HR abuses in J&K. 

GOC 19 Infantry Division S A Hassnain speaking at the occasion said, “The soldiers were conducting surgical operations to minimize the collateral damage and was trying to build a good rapport with the people of Valley.

FORCED OCCUPATION

· ARMY OCCUPIES SHRINE, GRAVEYARD ON LOC


PEOPLE GIVE TROOPS ULTIMATUM TO LEAVE

May 5: Strong resentment is brewing among the people against the occupation of a graveyard and a shrine on the Line of Control in Poonch district.  

Reports said the graveyard, adjacent to the shrine of revered saint Syed Ellahi Baksh at Balakote Mendhar, lies just a kilometer from the LoC. The graveyard is spread over 30 kanals of land and surrounded by four villages, Sandote, Pantote, Balakote and Dubi.   

Muhammad Siddiqui, a local, told media that the graveyard was declared out of bounds for people after the inception of armed struggle in 1990. A few days ago, the villagers said they spotted the troops placing barbed wires around the graveyard and the shrine.  “The troops have dug trenches and constructed bunkers and roads in the graveyard. In the process they have desecrated some graves,” the locals alleged.  

 
When the villagers learnt about the occupation, they informed the imam of Balakote, Moulvi Ayoub.  After the Friday prayers, Moulvi Ayoub told the people that the Army had desecrated the graveyard and gave ultimatum to the authorities to get the graveyard vacated within a week or face an agitation. The tehsildar Mendhar, Muzaffar Hussain, confirmed the occupation of the graveyard by the troops. 

 “The graveyard is occupied by the troops of 19 Dogra. I have held meeting with their officers and they agreed to resolve the matter amicably. The graveyard was used till 1965 and after that the Army restricted the movement as it lies close to LoC. Meanwhile, I have sought revenue record of the graveyard and will come to any conclusion after assessing them,” the tehsildar said.

· DEPRIVED OF RENTALS FOR FORCED OCCUPATION,

 FARMERS IN HANDWARA THREATEN TO TAKE        

 EXTREME STEP

May 5: The farmers of Handwara villages whose lands are under the occupation of Army since 1996 have threatened to take extreme steps, if the rent for their lands is not paid to them by May 16. 

Denouncing the claims of Army authorities that it was paying rent for the lands occupied by them in valley, the dismayed farmers said that at least 3000 kanals of land were under the occupation of 30 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) and 21 RR and that they have not received a single penny from authorities until now. 

The 30 RR is headquartered at Langate and its units are located at Khana, Haril, Chakpatri, Qalamabad, and Khanoo and the 21 RR is headquartered at Chatipora Handwara and its units are based at Bagatpora, Nagarnar, Zachaldara, Ahgam and Bunwadar villages. The land under occupation includes agricultural land and fruit orchards spread over many hundred kanals. 

The farmers said that the only source of their livelihood was agricultural practices and the non-payment of rent for years has forced them to face starvation like conditions. It has also badly affected the education of children, they claimed. 

They alleged that they were being made to run from pillar to post to pursue their cases for years now. They said that though the concerned army units have forwarded their cases for release of payment to additional defence officer (ADO) Baramulla but the ADO office was delaying payment for no apparent reasons. 

"The fruit orchard spread over two kanals would give me at least Rs 50000 every year but is under the occupation of Army for last many years and I have not been given a single penny. After repeated representations, the concerned army unit forwarded the case to additional defence officer (ADO) Baramulla but since years the office is delaying the release of payment on different pretexts," alleged Ghulam Qadir Bhat of Baghatpora adding that if the authorities did not release payment until May 16, more than 100 farmers would be forced to take extreme steps. 

The disgruntled farmers said that the non-payment of rent for long period of time has badly affected the education of their children. They said that the chief minister on his visit to Handwara in 2006 has assured the farming community that the rent for their occupied lands would be increased and the payment released in due course of time. 

"My family is living under a thatched roof since February 14, 2002 as 21 RR occupied the house in the same year. I am a farmer having five children including three girls and cannot afford to build a new house. The agricultural land and fruit orchard is also under occupation and for years I am running from pillar to post for want of rent but to no avail. My children are facing starvation and if payment is not released soon, I will end my life," said, Abdul Rehman Sofi adding that he even sold a cow for Rs 4000 to pursue the rent case but to no avail. 

A senior army officer said that the payment was lying pending with civil administration and the army has completed all the documentation with regard to payment of rent. "The payment is to be made by civil administration and army has completed all the documentation work and forwarded the same to administration for release of payment," said officer.

When contacted DC Kupwara, Isfandyar Kachoo told media that the cases of farmers have been forwarded for release of payment and very soon their payment would be released. "We have scrutinised and forwarded the cases for release of payment and I am hopeful that they would soon receive the payment," said DC.

· ‘LAND OCCUPATION BY ARMY, CONSTRUCTION BOOM MAY FUEL FOOD CRISIS IN KASHMIR’

May 08: The conversion of cultivable land into army camps and residential and commercial complexes is going unchecked in the Valley in general and in north Kashmir in particular, posing a serious threat to food security, officials have warned.


The total available area in 2001-2002 under “permanent pastures and grazing fields” was 7,000 hectares in district Kupwara, says a report by the Jammu and Kashmir Statistics and Evaluation Department. However, in 2004-2005, the area was reduced to 5191 hectares. “Same is the condition of other types of land in Kupwara,” a senior official of the department told media.

He said that the expansion of army camps, residential colonies and shopping complexes alongside Srinagar- Baramulla and Kupwara-Sopore highways was in sheer violation of the “Land Revenue Act 133 and Forest Acts” under the cultivation of agriculture, horticulture, and forest lands.


The tragedy is that the government itself is among the violators. The Food Corporation of India’s store and dry fruit mandi complex have recently come up on hundreds of kanals of land alongside Sopore-Kupwara highway.


As per tentative figures revealed by Jammu and Kashmir Land Accusation Department, the Army occupies 8245 kanals of land in Kupwara alone. This doesn’t include hundreds of kanals of forestland. Of the occupied land, 721 kanals have been taken “for ever.”
“When government of India can show a serious concern over wildlife and deforestation and impose a ban where even violators like influential Bollywood actor Salman Khan is not spared, why not in Kashmir?” asked Prince Ashaq of the Royal Mission society Kashmir, a non-government organisation.


Warned an official of the Agriculture department: “The situation is grave; if it’s not controlled immediately it may cause a serious threat to food security.” He suggested that a blanket ban be imposed on the purchase, conversion and selling of agricultural land and any kind of encroachment or occupation by the Army or paramilitary troops “to avoid the imminent disaster.”

· ‘ARMY HAS OCCUPIED OUR LAND’
         KUPWARA VILLAGERS REFUGEES IN HOMELAND

May 13: Army has been occupying nearly 200 kanals of agriculture and orchard land in twin villages of Bore and Jumaghad near Line of Control in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district since 1990 without paying rent or compensation.  The affected villagers, including women and children staged demonstrations on My 13 against the Army and asked them to either vacate their land or pay compensation.  

“Army forcibly occupied our land and houses in 1990. They have ruined our life and denied us any compensation. We can’t even see our fields and houses. The troops have planted mines in the entire village and made bunkers in our houses. We are migrants in our homeland,” said Abdul Razak whose 25 kanals of land are under occupation of troops.  

The protesters said they have been denied compensation and rehabilitation by the successive regimes. The then secretary to government, Revenue department, HH Dug, vide order no (Rev. 113 of 1993) had directed the authorities to provide monetary relief of Rs 1000, free ration, accommodation and medical facility to each affected family per month.  

· VILLAGERS RESENT FORCED POSSESSION OF LAND BY ARMY DEFENCE MINISTRY SUSPENDS ACQUISITION

May 15: The Defence Ministry has suspended the process of acquisition of land of villagers in Udhampur district following massive resentment over the plan to dislocate them. 

The residents mostly Gujjars and Rajputs of Khanpur area in Nagrota Niabat are up in arms against the acquisition plan which they alleged was done forcibly by the Army with the help of revenue authorities and local police. 

According to them, the land measuring 263 Kanals belongs to 35 families. The land includes agriculture land, orchard and residential area and is situated within the defence area and the army wanted to vacate the locals for security reasons. They blame army for not serving them a notice. 

Thakur Singh, a resident, said in 2002 the revenue authorities informed the villagers that the army is interested in acquiring the land measuring 263 Kanals after proper compensation and resettlement of the residents. 

“The revenue authorities after complete scrutiny made a compensation case and estimates for the land and the structures were completed in 2005. At that time the villagers protested that they are being paid less as the present rates have increased then what the government has shown in its award,” he said. 

He claimed that at present one Kanal of land is costing nearly Rs 10 lakh and the government is paying them Rs 1 lakh. “Some of the villagers have not even more than one kanal of land, which means Rs 1 lakh compensation. Now they can’t even buy a marla of land in the area,” he said. 

Sarpanchs Nagrota and Khanpur Rameshwer Dutt and Iqbal Chowdhary, Chairman Panchayat Khanpur, Rahim Ali says they have approached Revenue Department officials and Deputy Commissioner Jammu. 

“They refused to take any step to help the poor villagers saying that the matter has been solved and award of the land was already sanctioned,” said Rahim Ali.They claim that the revenue authorities are taking Rs 3 lakh to Rs 6 lakh in the same area of Khanpur from the occupants of government land under Roshni Act. 

“They are taking Rs 6 lakh from the occupants of government land under Roshni and at the time when it has to give to the citizens they have different gauges,” said Iqbal Chowdhary, Sarpanch Khanpur.However, Naib Tehsildar Amar Singh said in July 2005, the government made an award at the rate of Rs 1.25 lakh including the compensation of the residential structures. 

“After the request by the army we have initiated the process in 2002 and after complete scrutiny the cases and compensation was awarded. The defence ministry has already deposited Rs 4 crores with DC Jammu and the villagers were served notice to collect the compensation and vacate the land,” he said. 

Singh said the villagers were properly served the notices and the defence authorities took action only after the deadline was over. The affected villagers refused to relent and staged demonstrations against the Army and asked them to enhance compensation and also provide land for construction of houses. 

Responding, the defence ministry suspended the process of occupation and conveyed to the revenue authorities to solve the matter with the villagers and provide possession to them in a peaceful manner after complete settlement of the case. 

“The cases were settled by the court which ordered the civil authorities to give possession. It is the civil authorities who have to settle the matter with the villagers and hand over the land for defence purpose as per the court orders,” said PRO Defence Lt Col. S D Goswami. 

209 PANDITS KILLED IN 18 YEARS
May 1: While propaganda has been unleashed that massacres were carried out in Kashmir to wipe out the Kashmiri Pandit community in last 18 years of conflict, the facts speak otherwise. Sources said that in past 18 years only 209 Pandits have been killed in Kashmir valley. 

Sources said, in only 21 cases challan have been produced while in rest of the cases police in FIRs and reports have mentioned that unidentified militants have killed them. In once case pertaining to killing of HN Wancho the court has convicted the accused. The report is corroborated by a news story carried out by NDTV on May 1.

Quoting police sources, media reported that only 209 members of Pandit community have been killed in the Valley since 1989 and FIRs are registered in all these cases. But the report says that in 90 percent of the cases, the culprits are still untraced.

A Pandit organization recently knocked the doors of State Human Rights Commission seeking the CBI probe into the “massacres” of Pandits. 

Pandits left the valley en masse immediately after the militancy broke out in early 90s—a migration which Kashmiris believe was triggered at the behest of the then State Governor Jagmohan. Even some Pandit organizations and pro-India politicians are on record to say that Jagmohan planned the evacuation of Kashmiri Pandits from the valley.

A human rights activist while commenting on the issue said, “Killing of any innocent is condemnable. But at a place where nearly one lakh Kashmiri Muslims have died as a result of presence of over 7,00,000 troops, how can Pandits claim that massacres were carried out to wipe out them. Are deaths of one lakh Kashmiris so insignificant that they do not even merit a mention?”

“It is a propaganda launched by fanatic Hindu organizations to defame the Kashmiris. Let international probe be ordered in every massacre carried out in Kashmir and facts will come forward. Massacres were carried out by Indian troops at Gaw Kadal, Batamloo, Zakura Crossing, Hawal, Sopur, Bijbehara and at countless places where hundreds of Kashmiris were killed,” he added. 


MILITANT KILLED AFTER ARREST

SHO CHARGED WITH MURDER

May 1:On the direction of State Human Right Commission, Crime Branch has registered a murder case against then Station House Officer Surinder Singh Choudhary for killing a militant after his surrender and started investigation. 

According to case Mehtab Begum of Dalwah Tehsil Gool district Ramban -mother of deceased Zaffar Ullah filed a petition before the SHRC alleging that her son was killed by then SHO Police Station Gool after he surrendered. Narrating the incident she in her complaint said there was firing in between militants and security personnel on March 23, 1999. She was called by SHO Police Station Gool and asked her to surrender her son Zaffar Ullah before security forces.

 
According to her she promised and she approached her son and asked to him to surrender who believed his mother and handed over arms to his mother who further handed the weapons over to SHO Police Station Gool. The SHO asked her to go home and should not stay there as her son was in danger of being killed by other militants. 

Mehtab Begum stated before the SHRC that her son was produced in presence of villagers and was later killed. From the statement of the complainant and witnesses recorded by the Commission it transpired that Surinder Singh Choudhary then SHO Gool killed Zaffar Ullah after he surrendered at the instance of his mother and directed CB to register a formal case. 

Crime Branch registered a case under section 302 RPC and started investigation.
CUSTODIAL KILLING COPS KILLED CLASS 10 STUDENTS: SHRC

CASTIGATES POLICE FOR COVERING UP MISDEEDS OF ACCUSED

May 6: State Human Rights Commission on May 6 indicted two policemen for custodial killing of a 10th class student of Udhampur district in 2000 and directed the Government to compensate the victim’s family and conduct an inquiry into the case. 

 
The Commission rejected the claims of the police that the victim was an informer of the militants and killed in an encounter. It held that the police covered up the misdeeds of the accused policemen to hoodwink the petitioner and public opinion that the student was killed in custody.       

 
In his petition to the Commission, Umer-ud-Din of Khaned Morha Tehsil Ramnagar stated that on November 5, 2000, the security forces in a joint operation with police launched a crackdown and barged into his house in search of militants.  

“The petitioner expressed his inability to spot the militants and soon two police constables (SPOs) namely Manzoor Ahmad and Urash Paul while entering into his house took away (his son) Muhammad Urfan Umer for interrogation and then opened fire causing his death on the spot,” the acting chairperson of the SHRC, Habib-Ullah Bhat stated in his judgment.  

Umer-e-Din had stated that his son’s killing caused devastation of his family because “he was totally innocent.”  “He had to appear in Matric from November 8, 2000, three days after he was killed. I fought for justice before the authorities but all in vain,” Din had stated in his petition to the Commission. Finally the Commission sought a report from police regarding the killing.

“The SDPO Ramnagar after conducting enquiry had submitted report which reveals that the allegations contained in the complaint are not based on facts, as the son of the complainant was guide/informer of the militants. He got killed during an encounter,” the senior superintendent of police (SSP) Udhampur stated in his report to the Commission. 

 But the Commission on the basis of evidence and statement of witnesses termed the SSP’s report as “factually incorrect and deliberately managed to hoodwink the petitioner and the public opinion.” 

“The report of SDPO Ramnagar is not only one sided, blind folded but also a cover up for misdeeds of the local police particularly two constable, SPOs Manzoor Ahmad and Urash Paul.  The SDPO’s report does not seem to contain as to how many persons he had examined during enquiry? Has he ever seen the father of the deceased and has he recorded his statements? Has he examined the local lumberdar, chowkidar and sarpanche who have submitted certificates of non-involvement of the school boy,” the Commission held. 

“The report of SDPO Ramnagar is therefore irrelevant trash and filth of foul smell. This report is so rejected. The district administration usually covers up misdeeds of misguided personnel and no citizen is believed when he puts up his or her case before the authorities. This type of approach depicts absence of appreciation of ground realities. The version of the police is therefore rejected,” the Commission held. 

The Commission recommended to the Government through chief secretary that a result-oriented inquiry should be conducted in the student’s killing. It also recommended a monetary relief of Rs 2 lakhs to the victim’s father and relief in terms of SRO 43 to his another son.
MILITANCY TAKES TOLL OF 9 JOURNALISTS

May 11: The killing of Daily Excelsior chief photographer Ashok Sodhi while covering an encounter between militants and security forces brings to nine the number of prominent newspersons killed in the State in the last 18 years of militancy. 

Sodhi, who was covering a shoot-out between security forces and militants in Samba, was killed when a bullet fired by ultras pierced his head. 

Another senior journalist who fell victim to militancy was Radio journalist and Assistant Director of Doordarshan Lassa Koul, who was shot dead by militants in Srinagar in March 1990. 

His death was followed by that of ANI photojournalist Mustaq Ali in a parcel bomb explosion on September 7, 1995. 

Two other journalists, Yousef Jameel of the BBC and Habib Naqash of The Asian Age escaped with injuries in the blast. On January 1, 1997 Doordarshan journalist Altaf Ahmed Faktoo was shot dead in Srinagar. 

On March 16, 1997 Doordarshan part-time journalist Saidian Shafi was shot dead along with his body guard in Srinagar. 

This was followed by the killing of Hindustan Times photojournalist Pradeep Bhatia in a landmine blast in Srinagar on August 10, 2000.

Hizbul Mujahideen militants gunned down Parvaz Mohammad Sultan, editor of a local news agency, in 2003. 

Senior reporter of Information Department Abdul Majid Bhat was killed in a blast in Doda town on May 9, 2004. Another scribe Asiya Nabi was killed in a landmine blast in Kupwara on April 20, 2004. 

An Information Department Cultural Officer A K Abrol and two staffers of the Department had died in serial blasts at M A Stadium, Jammu on January 26, 1995 in an attempt made on the life of the then Governor K V Krishna Rao.

Besides them, over 18 journalists have been injured during militancy. Some of the prominent journalists who escaped with injuries in bomb explosions and attacks include Zafar Iqbal (NDTV), Zaffar Mehraj, Yousef Jameel, Habib Naqash, Tauseef Mustafa, Muzaffar Salam and Shahid Rashid.

SOLDIERS SHOOT PRO-INDIA ACTIVISTS

THEY STOPPED US, SNATCHED OUR I-CARDS, CELL PHONES, LINED US UP, THEN FIRED AT US: SURVIVORS

May 14: Four workers of ruling Peoples Democratic Party (PDP) were injured when the soldiers of army’s 32-Rashtriya Rifles battalion fired at them on the night of May 13 in Yaribugh Varmul, according to eyewitnesses. 

Eyewitness said that the PDP workers Khursheed Ahmad Shiekh, Ghulam Muhammad Mir, Mohammad Ashraf Shiekh and Firdous Ahmad Baba were returning home late in the evening after meeting PHE Minister Muhammad Dilawar Mir at his Srinagar residence.  Ghulam Hassan Lone, a PDP worker from Budan village said, “The soldiers stopped the four youth on May 13 and asked them to show their identity cards. They also snatched their cell phones and then allowed them to leave, but as soon as they left the soldiers fired at them.”

“Even Dilawar Mir Sahib knows it. Now we want to see what punishment would be given to the soldiers. Army is lying that an ambush was laid in the area because they had information about the presence of militants in the area,” he said.

 Lone’s statement was corroborated by zonal president of PDP, Ghulam Muhammad Mir, who addressed people on May 14 from the stage where Dilawar Mir was supposed to address people. 

“Soldiers checked their I-cards which clearly showed they were PDP workers. But still they fired at them. It is a conspiracy of the enemy,” Ghulam Muhammad told the gathering.  Dilawar Mir confirmed that the youth who were shot at had come to meet him at his Srinagar residence. 

“They were with me till 9 in the evening and when they returned home Army had laid an ambush. It is an unfortunate incident and I condemn it,” Mir said.

“It isn’t the first incident of its kind, as so many people have been killed like this in the past. We can’t get them back, but at least we can save our youth in future. I’ve asked the authorities concerned to investigate the incident,” he said.

An eyewitness who had a narrow escape in the firing told media, pleading anonymity, “Soldiers were running after me and I sneaked into a house where some women saved me. They were firing indiscriminately.”

A local resident said that when villagers tried to come out of their houses to see what had happened, the troops ordered them to remain indoors saying the village is under siege. “We immediately contacted police but they did not turn up,” he said. 

Locals alleged that to cover up the firing on PDP activists, the troops cordoned off house of one Sultan Sheikh.  On the morning of May 14 hundreds of people came on streets to protest against the “unprovoked” firing by the Army. The protesters were later joined by Dilawar Mir. 

Shouting slogans against the Army, the protesters demanded judicial probe into the incident. They marched on the streets and blocked Varmul-Handwara road for hours.

The officiating Defence spokesman, Col Majinder refuted the allegations. “On a specific information, the troops of 32-RR had laid an ambush at Dangiwachi. In the meantime, the militants fired upon the troops injuring the four civilians. The troops didn’t fire on the civilians or snatched their identity or mobiles phones,” he said.  Deputy Inspector General Police, north Kashmir Range, Dr B Srinivasan said that an FIR has been filed.

“A search party of Army was fired by the militants and in the retaliatory action, four civilians were wounded. We’ve lodged FIR into the whole incident and investigations are on,” he said.

5 OF FAMILY KILLED IN BLAST
May 17: Five persons, including three children, were killed on May 17 when a grenade exploded in the house of a Special Police Officer (SPO) in Ramban district, police sources said. 

The grenade, which exploded in the house of SPO Haroon at around 1100 hrs on May 17 in Gurnal-Neel village of the district, caused death of three members of his family on the spot while two injured later succumbed on way to hospital. 

 The deceased have been identified as 33-year-old Bashir Ahmed, 22-year-old Rubina Bano, 11-year-old Saddam-ul-Rehman, 10-year-old Rabina and 5-year-old Babbar, the son of the SPO.

However it was not immediately known whether the grenade was thrown in the house by any militant or it exploded accidentally while the SPO was fiddling with it, they said.  The SPO, who is posted at a police station in Banihal, had gone to his home a few days back, they said, adding police is investigating into the matter.  

CIVILIAN KILLED IN CROSS FIRING

May 21:A civilian was killed in exchange of firing between militants and police at Kaintha Neel dhok in Kandi area of Rajouri district. He has been identified as Mohd Lateef, 35, son of Mir Hussain R/o Hubi Kalar, Kandi.
May 22: Residents of Kandi Hubbi area held protest demonstration and blocked road for about two hours by placing dead body of Mohd Lateef on Rajouri-Kandi road.

Lateef (35) was killed during cross firing between the security forces and militants at Kaintha Neel Dhok in Kandi area on May 21.The people were demanding ex-gratia and relief in favour of family members of the deceased. Later, PDP leader Zulfikar Ali and ASP Rajouri, Mr. Shabir reached the spot. They talked to the public and assured that adequate compensation will be provided to the victim’s family. Later, dharna from the road was lifted and the villagers laid the body to rest.

VILLAGERS KILLING TRIGGERS PROTEST IN DODA

May 22: A massive protest triggered after the army jawans shot dead a civilian in a mistaken identity case at Lal Pani area of Marmat in Doda district in the wee hours of may 22.The deceased civilian has been identified as Shamas Din, 36, son of Feroz Din of village Muthi Khana in Marmat.

Reports said that Shamas Din was going to collect some food grains from Lal Pani area near water mill when the troops of 10 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) who had laid an ambush fired upon him. The victim sustained bullet injury and he succumbed to his injuries while being shifted to the District Hospital (DH) Doda.

Army on the other hand said that they signaled Shamas Din to stop while he was moving in the area under suspicious circumstance at 4.10 AM. Shamas Din, army said, not responded to the warning of the troops after which the jawans opened fire. The death of the civilian at the hands of the army triggered massive protest in the area. They demanded enquiry into the killing and stern action against the erring jawans.

Former Sarpanch Abdul Rashid Sheikh, Chowkidar Yog Raj of the village and a local Mohammad Isaq said that some army jawans came to the village in the morning and informed that a jawan had sustained bullet injury. They sought help from them. They reached the spot and they were stunned to see Shamas Din lying in injured condition. The army jawans were providing him some medicare on the spot. However, the jawans and the villagers immediately shifted the injured to DH Doda but he succumbed to his injuries on the way. The body after autopsy handed over to the family members for last rites.

The villagers staged massive protest and ASP Doda Abdul Gani rushed to the spot. He pacified the protestors on the assurance to conduct impartial enquiry into the whole episode. A case FIR number 61 of 2008 has been registered in the concerned Police Station.

MOTHER OF 4 SEEKS ACTION AGAINST HUSBAND’S KILLERS

‘SOG IS HARASSING ME TO CHANGE MY STATEMENT’

May 30: Ghulam Muhammad Bhat, son of Khazir Muhammad of Shanipora Khan sahib in Budgam district, was picked up by SOG personnel of JK Police on the intervening night of July 29-30, 2003, and killed in custody, according to his family.

“It was 9 in the evening, when suddenly SOG men entered our house and dragged out my husband. He was taking dinner that time and when we intervened, the SOG personnel ruthlessly beat us,” Bhat’s wife Lateefa Begum told media.

“At 2:30 am same night our house was again raided by the SOG. They searched the whole house and threatened us of dire consequences if we won’t give information about militants. One of the SOG personnel who was speaking Kashmiri told me, if you would not have provided food to militants, it wouldn’t have happened,” she added. 

Lateefa said that next morning when they approached SOG camp and police station Khansahib, “They denied having arrested my husband.”

 Bhat, a carpet weaver, had been killed during the night of his arrest. He was brutally tortured due to which he died. On the evening of July 30, his body was handed over to his family. The SOG had also arrested Abdur Rehman Mir son of Muhammad Ramzan of the same village that evening. 

“After SOG arrested me, I was taken to Fujpora, a neighboring village where I saw Bhat. Then both of us were taken to Khansahib SOG camp where we were kept in two separate cells. After a few minutes, I heard cries of Bhat who was being tortured. I was mum as I knew that now it would be my turn,” Rehman told media.

“After some time, the SOG personnel came to me and said if I won’t give information about militants I would also be given same treatment. When I said that I don’t have any information about militants, they kicked me. Later I was asked to move to the room where Bhat was kept,” he said, and added, “When I saw Bhat, he was naked and blood was oozing out of his mouth and nostrils.” Recalling that horrifying night, Rehman said that a doctor was called to see Bhat. “But the doctor declared him dead. He (Bhat) was given third degree torture.”

 “It was a horrifying scene. I was shocked. Next day when Bhat’s body was handed over to his family members, I was also released with a warning that I won’t open my mouth, otherwise I would also meet the same fate,” he added.

 
On July 30, 2003, police station Khansahib lodged an FIR of the incident. However, surprisingly, the FIR has been lodged against 29 and 35 Rashtriya Rifles battalions. The FIR No 208 of July 30, 2003 reads that the RR arrested Bhat and he died in their custody. After Bhat’s custodial killing, massive protests rocked Budgam after which a probe was ordered into the killing. Bhat’s family and Rehman have recorded their statements before the authorities stating that SOG was responsible for the killing.

Lateefa Begum says that she doesn’t know why the FIR has been lodged against the Army. “My husband was arrested by SOG officer Shabir Ahmad. But if police says my husband was killed by the Army, let an independent probe be ordered and killers be brought to book.”

 “I’ve four kids and no source of income. After my husband’s death, I sent my two elder kids to an orphanage, as I can’t feed them. Life has become an ordeal for us. I’ve developed psychiatric problems and I’m on treatment. But at times, I’m not able to purchase medicines. What was the sin of my husband?” she asked.

Advocate Mir Hafizullah, who has filed a petition before Chief Judicial Magistrate Budgam on behalf of the victims, said, “The FIR has been deliberately lodged against the Army to shield SOG personnel as Army enjoys impunity under Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA).”

The CJM has ordered police station Khansahib to submit the report of the case by June 10, 2008. However, Bhat’s family said they are being harassed by the SOG personnel not to give any statement against them. “SOG officer Shabir Ahmad, who killed my husband, sends me threats that if give any statement against him, he will kill all my family members. I’m being asked to change my statement against the SOG,” Lateefa said.

She appealed the higher ups in the police and army to investigate the matter and punish the guilty.

IS HE DEAD OR ALIVE?

FAMILY OF DISAPPEARED ASK AUTHORITIES?
May 15: Family of a government employee who is missing for the past six years from Phaldaji village have accused the police of failing to locate his whereabouts. 

Lone breadwinner of his family, Abdul Rashid Wani, who worked as a daily-wager in Watershed Department, went missing on March 2001. His family exhausted all its financial resources to locate his whereabouts in various police stations and security camps, but in vain. The family is on the verge of starvation and its hopes to locate their beloved are diminishing with each passing day.   

A father of three kids, Wani went to receive his wages on the fateful day to make purchases for the Eid. “But he did not return,” Wani’s father, Ghulam Muhammad said amid sobs. 

“My grand son frequently asks me about his father but I’ve no answer. It was only after we staged demonstrations that the police had registered a case and assured speedy investigation, but it turned out mere eyewash. In the process of paying money to locate my son, I forgot the responsibility to marry off my four daughters… now I’m left with nothing, I feel tired now,” he said.

The family had also approached the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC). After examining police reports, the Commission had declared Wani dead and recommended the government to grant an ex-gratia of Rs one lakh to the family.

“Not a single penny has been paid to us. We are on the verge of starvation,” the old man lamented. Wani’s mother has lost her eyesight and needs immediate operation. “If my son has been killed, please show me his grave. I want to weep on it…”she said and broke down.  

“I’m living for my children,” said Wani’s wife, Rafeeqa with moist eyes.

MOTHER SEEKS WHEREABOUTS OF MISSING SON

May 18: Her plight and pain is similar to thousands of mothers who move from pillar to post in search of their beloved ones subjected to disappearance during 19 years of turmoil. But now the wait has impacted her health as she suffers from serious heart ailment and is unable to do rounds of places that she believes are clues to location of her missing son. Raja’s son Bilal Ahmad Dar was picked up by some unknown gunmen in 1994 from his school. Since then his whereabouts are unknown. Raja resides in Chak Kawoosa (Narbal) in central Kashmir’s Budgam district. She says Bilal was in 9th class at the time of his disappearance. 

“I was at my sister’s house the day Bilal got disappeared. When I returned home, everybody was looking for Bilal who had not returned in the evening. Since that day, I’m continuously searching for my son, but in vain,” Raja said.

Recalling her last conversation with Bilal, Raja said, “The day I had to go to my sister’s place, Bilal asked me to prepare lunch for him, as he was having a  bath. As I was in hurry, I told him that I’ll keep the lunch ready, but take it yourself, as I was getting late.”

“I’m an unfortunate mother that I couldn’t serve last lunch to my son. When I left home, I didn’t know that it would be my last chat with my beloved son,” Raja said with moist eyes.

“Initially my husband and other family members searched for Bilal everywhere, but after getting exhausted, they stopped after some years. From Kupwara to Qazigund, we visited every army camp, interrogation center and police station. 

But.,” she said, adding “I’m a mother and how can a mother forget her son.”

“My heart speaks to me that he is still alive,” said Raja, “If he is dead, my heart can’t accept it. I’ve been waiting for so long.” Raja is suffering from heart ailments. 

“A mother raises her child with all hopes that the child will study and get educated. When the mother is old, she hopes her son can hold her hand. But my case is different. I have no one to hold my hand. My life has become an ordeal. I want to continue the search, but due to cardiac problems, I’m not able to do so.”

“I appeal to international human rights organizations to come to help in tracing my son’s whereabouts,” she asks.

COURT TRIALS

SECURITY FORCES, POLICE UNDER SCANNER IN J&K

SC QUESTIONS GALLANTRY AWARDS, PROMOTIONS TO COPS 

May 4: Describing the fake encounters “devilishly planned acts”, Supreme Court has questioned the moral grounds for giving gallantry awards and out of-turn promotions to the officials of the security forces and police involved in branding innocent people as terrorists and killing them in fake encounters in Jammu and Kashmir.  

Supreme Court has described the fake encounters as cold-blooded murders and expressed surprise over the gallantry awards being given to the officials who indulge in killing innocents after branding them as terrorists. It has expressed serious dismay at the disobedience of its direction with regard to conducting a through probe into every killing for which officials are expected to get rewards and promotions.

These observations have come at a time when the state police and security forces are facing serious charges of indulging in fake encounters for getting rewards and promotions. It has also come at a time when national and international organizations are seeking a thorough probe into the alleged discovery of more than 1,000 unmarked graves in border villages near Uri in District Baramulla.

A human rights organization has expressed fears that the graves may be of those people who have been killed in fake encounters by the security forces and later buried secretly in this remote village. Supreme Court has, in its observation, sought adoption of a transparent mechanism for rewarding the officer claiming of killing terrorist in anti-militancy operations.

Justice Aftab Alam and Justice G.S. Singhvi made the observations while hearing an appeal filed by one Swami Shraddananda, who was held guilty of murdering his wife Begum Shakereh Namazi, who belonged to the erstwhile royal family of Mysore. Benches of three judges were hearing the appeal.

Justice B.N. Agrawal was the third judge on the bench. Justice Aftab Alam, who has served as acting Chief Justice of Jammu and Kashmir High Court for six months, while hearing the appeal observed, “Just for getting a gallantry award, innocent people in Jammu and Kashmir are termed terrorists and killed.”

He went on and said, “This is a cold-blooded murder but we give them (Police and Security Forces) gallantry award.” Justice Singhvi vehemently supported the observation of Justice Alam and said, “It is also being done by the police and it is happening throughout the country.” 

Using the term “so-called encounters”, Justice Singhvi added, “In the so-called encounters, the justification offered is if we (Police) don’t kill them, they (terrorists) will kill us.”

DON’T MAKE NEPHEW PAY FOR DEEDS OF UNCLE: COURT

ASKS GOVT TO ISSUE PASSPORT WITHIN 6 MONTHS

May 8:  The High Court on may 8 directed the Government to issue a passport to a teenager, Aamir Bashir Baba, who intends to go abroad for higher studies within six months. The security agencies had denied issuing a passport to him as his uncle crossed over to Pakistan administered Kashmir (PaK) 19 years ago to acquire arms training and settled there.

Justice M Yaqoob Mir termed the decision of the security agencies about not giving the passport to Aamir for safeguarding the interests of the country as “quite strange”.    

The security agencies had claimed that if the passport is issued to Aamir he would meet his uncle who crossed over to PaK for arms training where he is settled now.

Justice M Yaqoob Mir said it appears quite strange that a student is made scapegoat for the acts of his uncle. The apprehensions of the state and its intelligence agencies are misconceived, he said. 

Justice Yaqoob said his uncle has no connection with the behaviour or working of his petitioner nephew.

The judge however was cautious about the security of the country and said it cannot be compromised. He said the state can stop the visa of the petitioner to the country where his uncle is staying put. He directed the concerned agencies to provide the passport to the petitioner according to Passport Act within six months.

He disposed off the petition with the direction to the respondents to process the papers of the student who aspires to study abroad.

JALIL ANDRABI MURDER CASE

NON-BAILABLE ARREST WARRANT AGAINST ACCUSED MAJOR

May 9: The Chief Judicial Magistrate (CJM) Budgam today issued an open date non-bailable warrant of arrest against accused army major in noted human rights lawyer Jalil Andrabi murder case. CJM Mohammad Yousuf Wani who issued the warrant listed the case on May 20 for hearing. 

It is pertinent to mention here that Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) had returned an application to Jammu and Kashmir Police regarding issuance of Red Corner Notice to the accused army major Avtar Singh in noted human rights lawyer Jalil Andrabi's murder case. The CBI had sought an open dated non-bailable warrant of arrest and a photograph of the accused major which it could forward to world's largest international police organisation-Interpol. 

CBI had taken the matter of extradition of Major Avtar Singh, who is reportedly staying in Canada, with Canadian embassy and asked it to make its government issue a Red Corner Notice against the accused Major who is wanted in Andrabi's murder case. 

The Assistant Director Interpol (CBI-New Delhi) in its letter number 1400/IP-2/RT/2007 dated February 26, 2008, while addressing Inspector General of Police (IGP) Crime and Railways, Jammu has said that an open dated non bailable warrant of arrest is mandatory for sending the application to Interpol for issuance of Red Corner Notice against the accused Major. 

On March 8, 1996, Andrabi was allegedly detained in Srinagar by Major Avtar Singh of the 35th Rashtriya Rifles son of Amar Singh a resident of Ponti Tehsil Jagadari in district Yamna Haryana. Senior police officials told Andrabi’s wife repeatedly that her husband was in custody and would be released. Three weeks later, Andrabi's body was found floating in the Jhelum river. An autopsy showed that he had been killed days after his arrest. 

On March 28, the CJM Budgam directed Jammu and Kashmir Police to take up the extradition case of accused Major. The case has been pending before the CJM for past many years and till date many orders have been passed to produce the accused before the court. A Special Investigation Team constituted on the directions of the state High Court in 1996 had found Major Avtar Singh involved in the killing of eight persons including Jalil Andrabi. 

The Kashmir Bar Association had filed a criminal revision before the High Court. After a gap of three years the case was sent back to CJM for considering the provisions of Section 549 CRPC and pass appropriate orders. The court had also directed to impound Major Avtar Singh's passport.

Expressing dismay over the failure of presenting the accused Major in the court, the CJM Budgam, in the last hearing, had maintained in his order, "The complainant party seems to be now justified in leveling aspersions against the court for its inability to procure the attendance of the accused."

HIGH COURT TO MONITOR PAPA KISHTIWARI CASE

May 14: The High Court on May 14 said it would monitor investigation of the case involving the notorious former government gunman turned politician Papa Kishtiwari who has been charged with murder of several people. The Court directed the concerned investigating officer to report about progress of the investigation to the court. 

The Court gave this ruling in a case filed by Zahoor Ahmad Mir through his counsel Pervez Imroz on 22 July 2007.The petitioner Zahoor says that in 1996 his father Ali Muhammad Mir was picked up by Kishtiwari and later subjected to enforced custodial disappearance. The petitioner said that his father was killed after his abduction by Kishtwari. 

 
Imroz said that in 2007 a single bench of Justice Hakim Imtiyaz Hussain directed the state to complete the investigation in a specified period of time. However the investigation was not completed and in the meanwhile the additional advocate general Muhammad Amin Rathore informed the court that the case has been referred to special investigation team as directed by the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC). 

In the previous hearing, Pervez Imroz had expressed apprehension that the investigation was hampered due to political interference, as some politicians apprehended that if Kishtwari was prosecuted or punished he would spill the beans and probably name some politicians. 

Imroz said police is yet to file a charge sheet against Kishtiwari though he has been in jail for the past one year. He said the court on May 14 ordered that the investigation of the case would be monitored by it and directed the SP East who is heading the investigation to report the court on May 24. The case has been listed on May 28.

ABDUCTION, RAPE OF WOMAN

COURT DIRECTS SSP TO FILE FIR

May 15: In an abduction and rape case, the Chief Judicial Magistrate Budgam directed the Senior Superintendent of Police Budgam to register FIR against eight accused including a police officer and initiate investigations into the matter.

CJM Mohammad Yousf Wani in his judgment observed that the case revolved round a "very heart felt, barbaric and brutal episode in which the complainant Gulshana Akhter a resident of Darwan-Charari-Sharief was abducted for compelling her to marry Mohammad Ashraf Wani (accused number one) son of Sonaullah Wani a resident of Darwan Charari-Sharief." 

EYEWITNESS TO ALLEGED CUSTODIAL KILLING FEARS FOR LIFE

May 19: The Chief Judicial Magistrate (CJM) Budgam has directed the police to submit a detailed report over the alleged intimidation and harassment of an eyewitness, who had witnessed a custodial killing of his fellow inmate, at Khansahib-Budgam Special Task Force (STF) Camp in 2003. 

The eyewitness Abdul Rehman Mir a farmer was picked up by STF along with Ghulam Mohammad Bhat a carpet weaver both residents of Shinipora Khansahib on July 30, 2003. An application by Mir submitted before the court of CJM reads that Mir was released and Bhat killed in custody and body was later handed over to his family. 

Testimony of Mir has already been heard and recorded by the then Additional Deputy Commissioner (ADC) and SP Operations Humhama. "For past few days Mir has been harassed by STF personnel, threatening of dire consequences if he would not withdraw his statement," Mir's counsel, Advocate Hafizullah said.

A fearful Mir has now approached the court, which directed the Station House Officer (SHO) police station Khansahib to submit a detailed report in the matter along with the case dairy file on or before May 22, 2008. 

"I have a large family to run. If something happens to my life, my whole family will perish," Mir said, adding that he was frustrated and not able to cope up with STF's hostility. He further observed that Bhat was not involved in any kind of subversive activity and was completely busy with his carpet weaving business. 

"I too was not involved or affiliated with nay militant organization and used to look after my fields. We fail to understand why we were detained and Bhat killed," Mir said, adding that he trusts judiciary and hopes that it will deliver the justice. 

On intimidation of witnesses in Jammu and Kashmir, several human rights organizations, including Amnesty International have expressed their concern in past. Many human rights activists observed that harassment of witnesses tantamount to violation of rights, and in such circumstances, truth becomes a casualty. 

"It is the responsibility of the government to provide security to important witnesses particularly in cases of human rights violation in Jammu and Kashmir. Take the example of this case, if something happens to this eye witness, the circumstances in which Bhat was killed will never come to fore. The guilty will roam free and no action will be taken against them. Bhat's family also will suffer. Justice would be denied to them and they will have to face abundant problems as well,' said Advocate Hafizullah, who is a human rights activist as well

HIGH COURT ISSUES NOTICE TO STATE

‘PLACE FAKTU’S CASE BEFORE REVIEW COMMITTEE’

May 24: The High Court has given directions to the state government to place case of a detainee, who is in jail for over 14 years, before a review committee and report about the progress to petitioners within two weeks. 

In a case- Aashiq Hussian Faktu (Dr Muhammad Qasim) versus State- the High Court issued notice to the state with directions to place the case before the review committee within two weeks.  Faktu was arrested on February 5, 1993 and on December 31, 2007 he completed over 14 years in jail.      

 
His counsel, former president High Court Bar Association, Mian Abdul Qayoom said according to jail manual the case of a detainee convicted for life and who has spent over 14 years in jail along with remissions be placed before the review committee for consideration.

 
The review board comprises Inspector General of Police, senior administrative officers, Principal Sessions Judges and others. The review board after seeing activities of the detainee in jail recommends to the government his release. 

 
Qayoom said that under the Supreme Court of India guidelines detainees who have been convicted for life and have spent 14 years in jail, their cases be placed for the consideration of remission and they should be released. He said though the State government gave affidavit to the Supreme Court that it would abide by the judgment, the cases were not reviewed for consideration. He said only two cases were placed before the review committee so far and the two were released on January 26, 2008. He said in contrast to this hundreds of convicts were released in MP, Kerala and other states.

KANDAHAAR HIJACK

SISTER'S HUNT FOR HER TWO BROTHERS ENDS IN A FAILURE

MAY 13: The last effort of a Kashmiri girl to trace her brothers, who were allegedly picked up by police in the aftermath of the infamous Indian Airlines aircraft hijack drama at Kandahar, met with failure after the Supreme Court dismissed a petition filed by her. 

A double bench of Justice B N Aggrawal and Justice G S Singhvi, dismissed the petition after accepting the plea of the Union Government that it had no information about the alleged detention of the duo Mushtaq Ahmad Rah and Mohd Shafi Rah. 

It was the stand of the Union Government that neither any cases was registered against the duo nor were they picked up by the Indian police as alleged in the petition filed by Ruquaiya through her counsel Anil Karnwal. 

According to the petition filed in 2006, the brothers who were running a leather factory in Nepal since 1995 were picked up by the Indian government's police on August 28, 2000, after the Indian Airlines Aircraft IA 814 was hijacked minutes after take-off from Kathmandu on December 24, 1999 and later diverted to Kandhar in Afghanistan. 

Mushtaq Ahmad Raha and Mohd Shafi Rah, according to the petition were among the 27 Kashmiris arrested by the Nepali police at the request of the Indian authorities. However, since then it was claimed their whereabouts were not known despite directions from the NHRC and state Government for their production. 

Having failed to know their whereabouts, the family filed a petition with the apex court seeking their production. The family had claimed that the brothers were detained in a jail at Jodhpur, Rajasthan, a contention rebutted by the Government. The apex court which had earlier issued notice to the Government on the issue, after several hearings and perusal of the replies filed by the Centre dismissed the petition on May 13. 

The missing youth according to the family are originally residents of Mohalla Maharajganj in Srinangar and reportedly shifted to Nepal in 1995 for carrying out leather business, the family had claimed.
SHOPIAN RESIDENTS STAGE PROTEST AGAINST CRPF ‘ATROCITIES’

May 17: Hundreds of residents of Padroo Shopian on May 17 staged massive protests against the atrocities committed by paramilitary CRPF after militants killed two CRPF informers.

The residents of Padroo forest area staged protest against the paramilitary CRPF who according to them were committing atrocities to avenge the killing of the two CRPF informers.

“The entire forest area is under cordon for the past seven days. We are not allowed to go outside by the CRPF personnel. They are trying to settle scores although we are not responsible for the killings of CRPF personnel,” the protestors said. 

On May 11, five CRPF men of 166 Bn G-Branch (Intelligence), three of them without arms and uniform went inside the forest areas of Padroo Keller Shopian after receiving information about the presence of militants in the area. The other two followed them. The three troopers were stopped by the militants and asked to prove their identity.

“On checking their I-cards the militants took us to some distance and then started firing at us. I rolled down a small hill and fortunately escaped but my colleagues were killed on the spot,” Aslam one of the three CRPF men who escaped the firing told media.

TEACHERS ALLEGE HARASSMENT BY TROOPS, POLICE

May 13: Women teachers at a school in Pulwama accused the army and police personnel of harassment and eve teasing from past few days.

“Our vehicle is being stopped at many places from Badami Bagh Cantonment up to Pampore by army and personnel of Special Operations Group and on the pretext of searching the vehicle we are being harassed and even they (Police and troops) pass on indecent remarks at us,” said a teacher who pleaded for anonymity fearing reprisal from the troops.

She said on May 13 the SOG personnel stopped their vehicle near Sampora in Pampore and for unknown reasons thrashed the driver. “The SOG personnel barged into our vehicle and beat the driver to the pulp. We were harassed and when we tried to resist, the SOG personnel threatened us in a rude language that they will frame us in a false case of recovery of arms from the vehicle,” said the teacher accompanied by other nine women teachers and the driver. 

 The driver had several marks of beating on his left arm and leg. “If the driver had committed any mistake they could have fined him or seized the documents but without any reason he was beaten,” said a teacher.   The teachers said they travel everyday from Srinagar to Pulwama where they are working in a school.

Another teacher wishing anonymity said few days ago troops of victor forces stopped their vehicle near the cantonment area and asked them to move out of the vehicle for searches. 

“We were asked to pass through a bunker on the roadside but we resisted since there was no women trooper in the bunker,” the teacher said.

 
When contacted, Superintendent of Police, Awantipora told media he will personally look into the matter.

MAY 18, 1990: WHEN BSF TROOPERS ‘RAPED’ BRIDE

18 YEARS ON, VICTIM WAITS FOR JUSTICE

May 17: When a Barat (marriage party) was returning from the house of Muhammad Akbar Ganai in Islamabad at 12 in the night on May 18, 1990, no one would have imagined it would be the last Barat during nighttime in the valley. 

Before the outbreak of militancy, there was a tradition of night Barats in the valley, but this fateful night changed the tradition. As around 100 Baraties left for Lissar village near Kokernag in bus number 1373/JKF, the para military BSF troopers posted in Boniyan tal (near chinar trees) in Hakhoora ordered them to stop and switch off the lights of the bus. 

Eyewitnesses say that the troops without any reason fired indiscriminately on the Baraties killing one on the spot while injuring several others including the bridegroom, Abdul Rashid.

 
After that the troopers dragged the bride, Mubeena Akhtar and her maternal aunt, Aamina into the nearby field and gang raped them. They later pumped five bullets into the body of Mubeena, injuring her critically.

 Recalling the horrific event, Mubeena’s sister, Shaheen, who was nine then said, “I cannot forget that fateful night and those images continue to haunt me. From that day onwards, my heart beats fast as soon I see any one in the khakis and even I don’t pass by the place where the incident occurred.”  

 Mubeena’s mother, Taja and father Muhammad Akbar are all praise for their son-in-law, Abdul Rasheed who despite all odds stood beside their daughter. Though Mubeena and her husband somehow recovered but they have not been able to come out of the trauma. 

 “For me it was the end of the world and I never wanted to live any more, but my husband always supported me,” Mubeena said with tears rolling down her cheeks. “We are still waiting for the justice, but it seems that there is no hope now,” she added.

Mubeena’s cousin, Riyaz Ahmad Ganai, who too was accompanying the Barat received injuries in his right arm, which latter was amputated. According to the application signed by the then deputy commissioner, Islamabad, he only received an ex-gratia of Rs 5000.Though a case was registered in the Dooru police station against the accused BSF troopers under FIR. No 53/1990 (under section 302/RPC) and a challan was registered in the District Court, Islamabad, the case was later closed for unknown reasons. 

 
A copy of a police report lying with the family of victim reads that the BSF troopers resorted to unprovoked firing and then sexually assaulted Mubeena and her aunt Amina. When this correspondent visited the concerned police station to check the details of FIR, the Munshi told that all the records prior to 1994 were damaged in a fire incident.

 “We don’t have any record of the FIR,” he said.

ARMY’S HELPLINE CAMPAIGN INSTILLS FEAR AMONG RESIDENTS

LOCALS ALLEGE THE MOVE IS TO PIT THEM AGAINST MILITANTS. IT’S OPERATION SADHBHAWNA: PRO DEFENSE

May 1: Residents in the city outskirts are feeling insecure in the wake of an army campaign during which 'help line' numbers are being publicized and locals advised to call the nearest unit about any militant presence. However the army insists that the exercise is part of its Sadhbhawna (goodwill) operation. 

The residents of various localities in uptown said they remain torn between fear and helplessness. "Army paints numbers on walls. We don't mind but if tomorrow a militant is killed in the area his colleagues would suspect the entire locality. This is like pitting the entire population against the militants. This makes us feel insecure. There is fear that the militants may take us as informers, and there is helplessness that we cannot stop army from painting our walls," said Shahana Akhter (name changed), a resident of Bagh-i-Mehtab, Army helpline numbers have been painted in areas like Rangreth, Rawalpora, GulzarPora, AstanPora, SuhPora, Wanbal, Baghi-i-Mehtab Mouchwa and Kralpora. 

A resident of Gulzarpora told media, “Troopers knocked our door on April 30 and told us whenever we would spot any militant presence in the area we should call on the displayed number outside our home.”

Another resident said that this is the first time, Army displayed help line numbers in this area. “It seems that militants have become active in the area again. Painting of the numbers on walls is a grim reminder of nineties,” he added.     

The helpline number carries the name of the regiment of 53RR, juxtaposed by two mobile numbers in many areas.  The Army has displayed the numbers at major intersections, roadside shops, bus stops, and especially outside the Masjids.

Army’s Srinagar based spokesman Lt Col A K Mathur termed the Army’s drive as a part of operation Sadbhawana for “helping” the people. “The help line numbers are for the emergency services like, Fire, medical aid, or any other help. The people can immediately call on these numbers for assistance”.

Informing that Army has displayed help line numbers in the whole valley, Mathur said the help line numbers are usually displayed outside public places. He said Army also displays help line numbers on Majids. “Many people frequently visit Majids for prayers. So they get acquainted with the number,” Mathur said.

He said help line number has nothing to do with information regarding militants. “We do not want militant news through these help line numbers,” he added.

However, Colonel Manjinder Singh said that help line numbers displayed by Army are for the convenience of common masses, “but” “They can also give information regarding militants. The numbers are for help of civilians. But if somebody wants to give information regarding militants he can do it” Singh said.

ARMY POSTERS WORRY LOLAB RESIDENTS

May 20: Army has pasted posters in many parts of Kupwara district’s Lolab valley offering cash rewards, ranging from rupees one to three lakhs, to anyone giving information that would lead to arrest or death of militants. The move has, however, caused insecurity among the residents.

The posters, pasted in markets, bus stops and in lanes and by-lanes of Lolab, carry names of the militants along with prize money on their heads. “These militants are responsible for the civilian deaths,” Army claims.

These posters have come up in Wavoora, Sogam, Krusan, Lalpora, Khurahama, Kuligam and Warnow areas of the picturesque valley and are written in bold Urdu.” The (militants) who kill the people by slitting their throats or by bullets have been identified as Pasha, Amjad, Zia-ur-Rahman, Zahoor Aman, Waleed and Abdullah,” the posters read. The militants carry a cash award of Rs 1-3 lakh on their heads.

“Anyone who will help the troops to kill a Pakistani (militant) will be rewarded with Rs 1 lakh and one who motivates a local militant for surrender will get a reward of Rs 2 lakhs,” the posters add.

The residents are, however, in a dilemma. “It (the posters) have made us vulnerable; now if a militant is captured or martyred, his colleagues will suspect the entire locality,” a senior villager told media, requesting not to be named.

He referred to the recent killing of Abdul Majeed Piswal and Mohammad Amin Mogul, residents of Shrant and Kawari villages, respectively, who were shot dead allegedly by militants on the charge of working for troops.

“The area is dominated by poor people; catchy amounts can lure anybody’s heart. Army is supposed to deal with the militants themselves and not to make the people vulnerable. Why are they pitting a Kashmiri against Kashmir?” the villager said. 

KHUNDRU FOLLOW UP

SEASON FOR FARMING BEGINS IN VALLEY

BUT NOT FOR STILL SHELL SHOCKED KHUNDROO PEOPLE

May 1: While the farmers in rest of the Valley are busy in their fields these days, but those in Khundroo and the adjoining villages like Phaloo and Sumbrona are in a fix. They are caught between the devil and deep sea situation. They are unsure whether or not they are safe while ploughing their land. They have apprehensions that they may lose more lives as they believe more live shells are there. Authorities, who have to start new cleansing operation, have asked the people to take precautions. 

Since August 2007 after the Field Ammunition Depot -21 (FAD) arsenals at Khundroo village caught fire, the area is witnessing small explosions from time to time till date. Recently 16 year old Ashiq Bhat was injured as a live shell exploded when he was digging in field.Till date the depot fire has claimed 21 lives, including the fireman and army men and around 50 people have got injured. 

One of the resident, Abdul Rashid of Phaloo village said, “We are not allowing the children to venture out as live shells are there in fields.” He said, from time to time there are small explosions. “After the ammunition depot caught fire there were many explosions and many people were injured,” he added. 

The villagers of Sumbrona said that the area where Ashiq was injured was declared as cleared area. “I was there, when it was declared a cleared zone s,” said Muhammad Noor-u-Din a villager. He said that, the area has not been: cleared and live shells are yet there. “If the area was cleared, where from this live shell came,” he added.

The villagers said that the clearance certificate of the area was only to show the media and outsiders, “These live shells are lying here and there,” said a labourer working in the same ammunition depot and added that while clearing, many army troopers were injured.

Deputy Inspector general (DIG) of police south Kashmir Muneer Ahmad Khan admitted that there is danger and said that they are going to clear the area again.

He said, “Today four fuses were destroyed by our bomb disposal squad and operations will continue.” DIG said four more army teams are coming to clear the area. “I have requested GOC Victor force for four teams and he has agreed,” Khan said and added, “I ask the people to take precautions and incase they found some shell they must inform the police control room Anantnag.”

“But the relief was stopped in 2000. Despite having agricultural land, we are forced to do menial jobs for survival. If authorities can provide flats to the Kashmir Pandit migrants why not us. We are living as migrants in Keran. The life of our children has been spoiled,” lamented Jamuluddin, a villager.  

 Quoting a letter of the commanding officer of 56 APO, AG Joshi in 1993, he said the Army had disposed off the case saying, “In the interest of security of the Keran sector, the affected petitioners along with their families cannot be repatriated or resettled in Bore.”

“This is sheer injustice. Army has snatched our land and peace. We want the chief minister Ghulam Nabi Azad should intervene into the matter and ask the Army to vacate our land,” said aged Jana Bhi.   The deputy commissioner Kupwara, Isfandyar Khan acknowledged problems of the inhabitants. Farmers protest against Army’s diktat.   

MILITANTS KIDNAP YOUTH, RELEASE AFTER TORTURE: POLICE

May 4: A resident of Dardpora, Lalpora was kidnapped and later  released by suspected militants. According to police statement Mudasir Ahmed s/o Muhammad Abdullah Peer had been subjected to torture during captivity. He has been shifted to hospital to treatment.  

EXPLOSIONS
·  TROOPER INJURED IN LANDMINE BLAST

May 5: An army trooper was critically injured in a landmine blast in Rajouri district on May 5.Launce Naik D Sham Lamkang of 3 Assam stepped over the landmine during patrolling at darani check post in Ghambir, official sources said. The Jawan’s right leg was blown up in the blast. 

·  11 SHELLS DEFUSED IN KHUNDRU

May 5: People claimed to have defused at least eleven shells at Khundru in South Kashmir, where Army’s largest ammunition depot was gutted in 2007.

A police official told media the locals informed the police about the presence of live shells in Khundru on May 5.”Sleuths from the bomb disposal squad rushed to the spot and defused the shells,” he said adding,” Shells being defused on time prevented a major tragedy.”

·  LIVE FUSE FOUND IN SOUTH KASHMIR, PEOPLE LIVE IN FEAR  

May 19: People in about a dozen villages in Islamabad district of south Kashmir continued to live in fear following the recovery of unexploded shells and fuses almost every alternate day during the past one year.

Later, the Bomb Disposal Squad (BDS) defused the fuse without causing any damage. The fuse had remained unexploded during the devastating fire in the ammunition depot at Khandroo in August 2007.

About 20 fuses were detected and defused by the BDS during the past one month in these villages.

·  SOLDIER INJURED IN MINE BLAST 

May 22: An Army jawan was seriously injured in a land mine blast near the Line of Control (LoC) in Rajouri district. A defence spokesman said that Naik Sukhdev Singh of 18 Jammu and Kashmir Rifles was patrolling in the forward area along LoC at Dabal post in Keri sub-sector of Rajouri on May 22, when he accidentally stepped over a landmine. It resulted in an explosion in which he was wounded critically. He was immediately shifted to nearby army hospital. His condition was said to be serious.

·  5 LIVE BOFORS FUSES RECOVERED IN NOWGAM  

May 24:The Central Bomb Disposal Squad (CBDS) averted a major tragedy when they detected and defused five live Bofors fuses in south Kashmir, a police spokesman said. The CBDS detected five live fuses at village Nowgam. The area was cordoned off and later the fuses were destroyed without causing any damage.

 
This was the fifth time live fuses were detected and defused in the south Kashmir villages during the past two weeks.

· THREE FUSES FOUND IN KHUNDROO

May 29:A bomb disposal squad destroyed three fuses at Khundroo in south Kashmir while as handed over the remaining two to the army.

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· 4,000 KASHMIRIS MISSING IN CUSTODY:OMAR ABDULLAH

May 2:Saying that 4,000 Kashmiris have disappeared in custody since 1990,the president of National Conference Omar Abdullah renewed his demand for a truth and reconciliation commission .he said that ” more and more people” are lending support to his demand for setting up TRC. “The government says that 150 persons have disappeared, and once the issue is probed by TRC exact number of people disappeared would be known once and for all,” he added 

· VIOLENCE GRAPH COMING DOWN FAST: KHODA 

Director General of Police, Kuldeep Khoda on May 8"in the first four months of this year the incidents have come down to 215 in comparison to 315 of the corresponding period in 2007. However, notable achievement has been the drastic fall in the civilian casualties, which have come down to 25 from 58 in 2007. The terrorists killed during first four months of this year is 108 compared to 114 in 2007 and causalities of police and security forces have come down to 19 from 37 during first four months of 2007”.

He said "in the militancy related incidents, a large number of top foreign mercenaries and local terrorists were eliminated in different militancy related operations across the State since January this year". 

· INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION SHOULD PROBE ALL KILLINGS IN JK: KPSS 

May 9: Kashmiri Pandit Sangrash Samiti (KPSS), an organization of non-migrant Kashmiri Pandits, demanded setting up of an international commission to establish truth of all killings and disappearances that had taken place in the state since eruption of militancy. 

"The international commission is necessary to end the allegations and the counter allegations made by various agencies regarding the number of killings in the state", KPSS President Sanjay K Tikoo said in a statement. No representatives either from India, Pakistan or from the state should be included in the commission to carry out impartial probe, he said and appealed all erstwhile militant outfits, separatists, Human Rights groups and government to come forward so that all killings and disappearances are established in a proper way. 

· 400 MILITANTS WAITING TO SNEAK IN: DG BSF  

May 16: Asserting that nearly 1000 additional paramilitary BSF troopers would be deployed near International Border in Samba sector, Director General of BSF claimed that 400 armed militants were waiting to cross into Jammu and Kashmir from the other side.    


DG, BSF A K Mitra accompanied by other senior BSF officials conducted a detailed survey of Samba sector on May 16, where the infiltrators had managed to sneak in after cutting the border fence.  

· ‘WE COULD NOT FULLY FOIL INTRUSION BID’

1000 ADDL TROOPS TO BE DEPLOYED ON IB: DG BSF

*41.5 KM FENCE BEING REALIGNED 

May 16: Admitting that the border guards could not fully foil the intrusion bid by the Pakistani terrorists in this sector on May 9, the Director General of Border Security Force (BSF), A K Mitra, on May 16 said that 1000 additional troops would be immediately deployed on the International Border (IB) with Pakistan to plug the vulnerable areas.


Disclosing that fence on 41.5-kilometre area of International Border is being realigned; he said that this step is being taken as huge chunk of the land ranging between 300 metres to 1.5 kilometer has fallen on the other side of the fence making the land uncultivable.


"Because of the re-alignment of the fence, 4000 acre of land would come on this side and farmers would be able to cultivate the same", he said, adding "of 4000 acre land, 654 acre falls in the Samba sector only". This area had gone on the other side when the border was being hurriedly fenced amidst heightened tension between India and Pakistan.

·  AZAD ADVOCATES ‘BULLET FOR BULLET’        

     APPROACH TO FIGHT TERROR

May 17: Advocating a "bullet for bullet" approach to combat terrorism, Jammu and Kashmir Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said that terrorists have to be neutralized as otherwise they will kill innocents.


"How can you initiate talks with terrorists, who after attaining training from across the border, come to kill you. Either you have to kill him, otherwise you will be killed," Azad said, 

·  AGGRESSION ON BORDERS WILL BE RETALIATED:   

    PREZ  

            ‘INDIAN ARMY WILL BE MODERNIZED TO MEET ANY CHALLENGE'

May 23: President, Pratibha Patil on May 23 said Army would firmly meet any attempt of aggression on the borders with full force.


Terming Indian Army as one of the top armies of the world, Patil said Government would continue with its efforts to acquire sophisticated weapons and impart latest training to the troopers. 

·  AZAD’S BULLET FOR BULLET REMARK   

            SOZ DIFFERS ‘SLIGHTLY’

May 26: Union Water Resources Minister and State Congress chief Saifuddin Soz differs with Chief Minister, Ghulam Nabi Azad on his bullet for bullet policy.

“My perception is slightly different. Certainly when dealing with people who have a gun and challenge the Indian state, the army and paramilitary forces cannot sit idle — they have to fire back. 

REPORTED DISAPPEARANCES

· TEENAGER MISSING  

May 3: According to police, a teenaged boy Mashqoor Ahmed Wani son of Ghulam Ahmed Wani of Gool in Ramban district is reportedly missing from April 25.

· PANCHAYAT MEMBER ABDUCTED

May 4:Unidentified gunmen abducted a panchayat member Sher Muhammad son of Sadaru  Gujjar of Barmidhar area in Reasi from his house on May 2, police said.

· EIDGAH TRADER MISSING

May 9:Fayaz Ahmad khan, 23,a businessman from Firdous Bagh, gone missing since April 7,family sources told media. Following his disappearance, the family has lodged a missing report with the police station,safa Kadal.

Police has recovered the Santro car he had left his home in from Qamarwari under police station Qamarwari.The family has further alleged that some of his friends have been approaching them saying if they were given a large sum, they would reveal his whereabouts. Efforts to contact police station Safa Kadal could not materalise.

However, SSP North, Bashir Khan told media that, ”The family knows he is heavily in debt. But we have already filed the report and we are looking for him.”

· MAN MISSING

May 16:According to police, four masked persons kidnapped Riyaz Ahmad Raina son of Ghulam Qadir Raina of Mamar Kangan from his home on May 15.The abducted person is a tailor by profession, the police said. While as, Troops of 14 RR and SOG on May 15 arrested a medical shop owner Muhammad Ashraf Lone son of Ghulam Muhammad Lone of Chuntimula Bandipore. According to the family, he was arrested as a result of vendetta.

· STUDENT MISSING

May 20: A student studying in BA Part-I has been reportedly missing since May 15 from his residence. He has been identified as Azad Ahmed son of Makhan Din Gujjar, a resident of Surankote.Police have taken cognizance and started search operation to trace him out immediately.

· 3 TEENAGERS MISSING 

May 23: Three teen-agers have reportedly gone missing from their residences on May 21.They have been identified as Majid Hussain, Muhammad Imran s/o Abdul Rashid and Sadam Hussain s/o Muhammad Shafi all hailing from Balicharna.

SUICIDES/MUTUAL KILLINGS BY TROOPS

· SUICIDE BID BY ARMY JAWAN

May 1: An army jawan made abortive bid on his life by shooting himself with INSAS Rifle at Birpur area on his birthday.

The injured jawan has been identified as Naik Mahinder Singh of 8 Dogra Regiment resident of Kathua. He sustained bullet injuries in his stomach and was shifted to the Military Hospital (MH) Satwari for treatment. Army has ordered court of inquiry into the whole episode.

· JAWAN KILLS JCO IN NOWSHERA

May 6: An army jawan killed his senior by shooting him with a service weapon inside army camp at village Tain Tehsil Nowshera of Rajouri district.

Official sources said, "Naib Subedar Lal Bahadur, 46, resident of Gorkhpur was shot dead by the jawan, identified as Signalman Inderjit Singh, around 9 AM with his service weapon while he was on his duty at Nowshera''.

Both the accused and the deceased were posted in Tain village of Tehsil Nowshera. Sources said that that Signalman Inderjit had a tiff with Naib-Subedar Lal Bhadur during the wee hours of May 6 over some duty issue at village Tain where the duo was posted. After a heated exchange of words, the solider Inderjit shot dead the Naib Subedar.The body of the 46-year-old Naib -Subedar Lal Bhadur was being sent to his native village in Gorakhpur.

· AN FIR HAS BEEN LODGED AND AN ENQUIRY HAS BEEN ORDERED, SOURCES ADDED

IAF JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE

May 8: A jawan identified as Krishan Kumar, a Radar Fitter in unit 3005 squad allegedly committed suicide by hanging himself at Air Force headquarters in Pulwama district of Jammu and Kashmir, a police spokesman said. The jawan was found dead this morning inside his room which was locked from inside. 
· ARMY JAWAN COMMITTED SUICIDE

May 10:An army jawan was found dead lying in the bathroom of Enginreering Regiment.The deceased jawan has been identified as Naik SBP Raju, resident of Vishakapattnam Andhra Pradesh.

It was believed that he had committed suicide by hanging himself with a cloth inside the bathroom of his unit. The body after autopsy was handed over to the authorities.

· SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE  

May 11:A 24-RR soldier identified as Sepoy Ashok Kumar, belt No. 15944286-UL, shot himself dead with his service rifle around 3 pm while on guard duty at Kangan camp, 40 kms from Ganderbal on the Srinagar-Leh highway. 

Conditions of high stress, particularly turning down of their leave applications by their superior officials, are counted as the top most reason of such deaths among security forces in Jammu and Kashmir.

· CRPF CONSTABLE COMMITS SUICIDE

May 16:A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) constable, who deserted his unit taking one sophisticated INSAS rifle and magazines in south Kashmir, committed suicide near Palhalan pattan, in Baramulla.

Quoting CRPF spokesman, Constable Muhammad Iqbal Rather of Pakipora, Pattan, in north Kashmir district of Varmul was found missing from his camp of 183 batallion posted at Kakapora, Pulwama.

Later it was confirmed that he had deserted the camp taking with him a rifle and five magazines and 100 rounds of ammunition. He said Iqbal had joined CRPF in 2006 and after completing training he was posted at Kakapora Pulwama in 183 batallion in June 2007.

· SOLDIER ENDS LIFE

May 20:A soldier of 1st battalion Rashtriya Rifles committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at High Ground Islamabad. The deceased has been identified as Suresh Chandra Kapri (No. 4566334-W). Police has registered a case.

· ARMY SOLDIER ENDS LIFE

May 28:A jawan committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at an Army camp in Rajouri. The incident took place at around 6.50 am when 24-year old Sepoy, Sapnil Wandnay, hailing from Maharashtra, was in his barrack. He had to take part in battle proficiency test, a sort of long and tough walk, carrying weapon and ‘pithu’ on back. As the other jawans were preparing for this exercise (BPET), the young soldier fired at his chest with his own service rifle, killing himself on the spot.

The other soldiers hearing sound of gunfire rushed towards him. He was lying in a pool of blood. The seniors also rushed to the spot. The injured jawan was immediately shifted to nearby Army hospital where doctors declared him brought dead. He belonged to Medium Regiment (Art), based in Rajouri town. 

· JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE

May 31:An Army jawan allegedly committed suicide. Defence spokesman Col S D Goswami said that Havaldar Jaspal Singh of 14 Sikh Light Infantry shot himself with his service rifle at an Army Camp at Pargwal in Akhnoor area.

The jawan, a resident of Raigarh, Patiala, died on the spot, he said, adding the body has been sent to his native place Patiala city for last rites after all legal formalities. The Army has ordered a court of inquiry into the incident, he added.

WOMEN –CHILDREN KILLED

· 9TH CLASS STUDENT KILLED IN CUSTODY BY RR TROOPS
May 1:The soldiers of 6 Rashtriya Rifles battalion of army arrested Mushtaq Ahmad Mir son of Ghulam Muhammad Sakin of Shalla Dooru in Kupwara on the night of April 5 outside his home. A woodcutter in the nearby forest found his decomposed body on May 1. According to Mushtaq’s mother he had come out of his home to urinate when a patrolling party of the soldiers from a nearby camp picked him up. 

· 5 OF FAMILY KILLED IN BLAST
May 17: Five persons, including three children, were killed on May 17 when a grenade exploded in the house of a Special Police Officer (SPO) in Ramban district, police sources said. 

 The grenade, which exploded in the house of SPO Haroon at around 1100 hrs on May 17 in Gurnal-Neel village of the district, caused death of three members of his family on the spot while two injured later succumbed on way to hospital. 

 The deceased have been identified as 33-year-old Bashir Ahmed, 22-year-old Rubina Bano, 11-year-old Saddam-ul-Rehman, 10-year-old Rabina and 5-year-old Babbar, the son of the SPO.

 However, it was not immediately known whether the grenade was thrown in the house by any militant or it exploded accidentally while the SPO was fiddling with it, they said.  The SPO, who is posted at a police station in Banihal, had gone to his home a few days back, they said, adding police is investigating into the matter.  

· SUSPECTED WOMAN MILITANT OF LASHKAR-E-TOIBA KILLED
May 28:Security Forces claimed to have eliminated a suspected woman militant Samreena Bano at Khandipura, Gundna under the jurisdiction of Doda police station.

SSP claimed that Samreena Bano had joined LeT cadre few months back and was Over Ground Worker (OGW) of the same outfit. A Case FIR number 31 of 2008 under section 212 and 216 RPC was registered in Police Station Doda few months ago for her anti national activities and it was challenged in the court of law against her from where she was bailed out. She had been an active OGW for past 4 years and had been interrogated twice in JIC by the police. She was undergoing Nursing training in District Hospital Doda from where she went missing in April 2008 he added. 

KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF MAY- 08

	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	MAY 01
	-
	-
	1
	-

	MAY 02
	-
	-
	1
	1(former militant)

	MAY 03
	-
	1
	-
	-

	MAY 04
	-
	1
	-
	-

	MAY 05
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 06
	1
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 07
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 08
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 09
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 10
	1
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 11
	3
	4
	4
	-

	MAY 12
	-
	2
	-
	-

	MAY 13
	2
	2
	-
	-

	MAY 14
	2
	2
	-
	-

	MAY 15
	1
	1
	-
	-

	MAY 16
	1
	1
	-
	-

	MAY 17
	-
	7
	5
	-

	MAY 18
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 19
	1
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 20
	1
	1
	-
	-

	MAY 21
	-
	-
	1
	-

	MAY 22
	-
	-
	1
	-

	MAY 23
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 24
	-
	1
	-
	-

	MAY 25
	-
	1
	-
	-

	MAY 26
	1
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 27
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 28
	1
	3
	-
	-

	MAY 29
	1
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 30
	-
	-
	-
	-

	MAY 31
	1
	1
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	17
	28
	13
	1

	                                                                                                        In Total
	59 killings


	Date
	Custodial and Extra judicial Killings
	Women killed
	Children Killed
	Alleged Disappearances

	May 1-08
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 2-08
	-
	-
	-
	1

	May 15-08
	-
	-
	-
	2

	May 17-08
	-
	1
	3
	-

	May 21-08
	-
	-
	-
	3

	May 28-08
	-
	1
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	1
	2
	3
	5


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS

May 1: Soldiers of 6 Rashtriya Rifles battalion of army killed a 9th class student in custody. He was identified as Mushtaq Ahmad Mir of Shalla Dooru, Kupwara.

May 2: Two person including a former Hizbul Mujahideen militant were killed by some unidentified gunmen in village Kucchal in Chatroo, Kishtwar They were identified as Imtiyaz Ahmad Mir, son of Ghulam Mohammad Mir and Bashir Ahmad Hajam, son of Ghulam Mohammad Hajam both residents of Kucchal Chatroo

May 3:Police claimed to have killed a militant during an encounter in Kupwara .The identity of the slain militant is being ascertained.

May 4:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of valley. 

May 5:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of valley. 

May 6: An army jawan killed his senior by shooting him with a service weapon inside army camp at village Tain Tehsil Nowshera of Rajouri district
May 7: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of valley.

May 8: Gool police claimed to have recovered  body of Nisar Ahmad son of Abdul Jabar Khan of Govindpuri in Ramban district from river Chenab at Sanjan Bagh Ashmar. Police has initiated proceedings under section 174 CrPC in this regard.
May 9: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of valley.

May 10: An army jawan was found dead lying in the bathroom of Enginreering Regiment.The deceased jawan has been identified as Naik SBP Raju, resident of Vishakapattnam Andhra Pradesh.He  had committed suicide by hanging himself with a cloth inside the bathroom of his unit

May 11: Eight people, including three family members, two militants, two soldiers and a photojournalist of a Jammu based English daily were killed and eleven injured in fierce encounter with militants between militants and forces at village Rakh Amb Tali of Kaili Mandi in Samba district in Jammu. In another incident, police and army claimed to have killed two militants during an encounter in the forest area of Garbar top of Dardun Kralpora in frontier district of Kupwara The identity of the slain militants is being ascertained. Meanwhile, police has fished out the body of Khatija wife of Wali Shah of Langanbal Pahalgam from river 

Lidder at Langanbal. Police has started investigations. Whileas, a 24-RR soldier, Ashok Kumar, belt No. 15944286-UL, ended his life by shooting himself with his service rifle in Kangan.  

May 12: Police claimed to have killed two militants in separate incidents across the Jammu region. A militant was killed during an encounter in a signal centre complex of forces at Samba.Police claimed to have killed a Lashkar-e-Toiba militant during an encounter at Mastan Dhara Dharaba in Poonch.The slain militant has been identified as Abu Muwasi. 

May 13: Militants in Keller and Padder forest areas of Shopian killed two CRPF personnel, they were identified as Rafique Ahmad and Asif Ali. Meanwhile, police claimed to have gunned down two hardcore militants of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) outfit, who were heading to receive the group, which had infiltrated from Samba sector, at village Pallai in Gandoh area of Doda district. One of the slain militant has been identified as LeT commander Farhat Hussain alias Mochi R/o Chanti Gandoh while another ultra was unidentified Pakistani. Meanwhile, four civilians were injured in North Kashmir area of Rafiabad in Baramulla district after troops of 32 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) allegedly resorted to indiscriminate firing. They were coming back to their homes after meeting cabinet minister Dilawar Mir in Srinagar.

May 14:Police claimed to have killed two militants including a commander of the lashkar-e-Toiba outfit, in Doda district of Jammu. They were identified as Abu Saifullah LeT’s district commander and zukfikar son of Abdul Gafoor.Meanwhile, militants captured and later killed two Kashmiri soldiers of the Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) in Pulwama.They were identified as Asif Ali Baig S/o Mohammad Yaqoob Baig R/o Chandoosa (Baramulla) and Mohammad Rafeeq Khan S/o Mohammad Sharief Khan R/o Limbar Boniyar (Baramulla).

May 15:A soldier identified as Kuldeep Singh was killed in an encounter in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district, while as, police recovered throat slit body of Gulzar Ahmad Dar (26) son of Ghulam Muhammad from south Kashmir’s Pulwama district. Meanwhile a militant was killed during an encounter at Tarkundi area in sector Balakote Poonch

May 16: Police claimed to have recovered the body of Gul Wazir Khan (60) son of Fazlullah Khan of Gutlibagh Ganderbal from power canal near Baila Wussan Gutlibagh. Police has registered a case. A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) constable ended his life by shooting himself with his service rifle in Baramulla. The security forces gunned down an intruder when he was trying to infiltrate into Indian Territory in Tarkundi forest area of Mendhar Tehsil in Poonch district. He has been identified as Abu saqlaine of Pakistan associated probably with LeT cadre
May 17: Six militants of Jaish-e-Muhammad were killed in an encounter with troops in Tral.The militants were identified as Waseem Hussain Ahanger alias Qari Asif of Kuchmulla, Tral district commander of the outfit, Muhammad Yousuf Bhat alias Prince of Chersu, Awantipura, Ali Baba alias Babu Bhai, Iftikhar Bhai and Akram alias Kalu Bhai of Pakistan. The identity of other militant was not ascertained. Meanwhile police claimed to have killed the district commander of LeT in Bandipore district. He was identified as Tanveer Ahmad resident of Pakistan. In another incident five person including three children were killed in a mysterious blast outside Special Police Officers (SPOs) house in Neel area of Banihal, Ramban.

May 18: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of valley.
May 19: A soldier identified as Naik Yashwant Singh of 2/8 Gorkha Rifles was killed and two others wounded in an encounter with militants in Mendhar Poonch.

May 20: A battalion commander of LeT was killed in an encounter with troops in Bandipore.He was identified as Abdul Rehman alias Usman of Khud district Kasoor Sialkot Pakistan.Whileas a soldier of 1st battalion Rashtriya Rifles committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at High Ground Islamabad. The deceased has been identified as Suresh Chandra Kapri (No. 4566334-W).

May 21:A civilian was killed in exchange of firing between militants and police at Kaintha Neel dhok in Kandi area of Rajouri district. He has been identified as Mohd Lateef, 35, son of Mir Hussain R/o Hubi Kalar, Kandi.

May 22:A 36-year-old man identified as Shamas Din, son of Feriz Din of Muthi Khana, Marmat was killed in a mistaken identity when troops fired indiscriminately towards him at Lal Pani, Sector Marmat in Doda.

May 23: suspected militants shot at and injured a person identified as Abdul Rashid Gojar, a resident of Nagbal Chewa Payeen, in Pulwama district. 

May 24:Police and Army claimed to have recovered body of suspected militant from village Trigam Nallah Cherwari in Banihal. The deceased was identified as Abdul Rashid, 23,son of Abdullah Chambal of Chewari.

May 25:A militant of Hizbul Mujahideen outfit was killed in an encounter at Bari Marmat in Doda.The slain militant was identified as Kafayat Ullah alias Usman son of Abdul Gafoor of Rood Marmat. Meanwhile, police recovered a body in Charsoo in Awantipora in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district. The deceased was identified as Manzoor Hussain 26, son of Dil Muhammad; resident of Bhar Nala Udhampur.Police has taken up investigations.

May 26:A soldier identified as Kamaldeep singh was killed in an encounter with militants in Lolab valley of north Kashmir's Kupwara district.  

May 27: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of valley.

May 28: Police and Army claimed to have gunned down a ‘deputy divisional commander’ of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) outfit and his paramour, who was also an active militant, in an encounter at Khandipura, Gundna under the jurisdiction of Doda police station. Slain couple has been identified as Shabir Ahmed Ittu (code Abu Yasir) alias Abu Rizwan son of Abdul Rehman Ittu, a resident of Ludna, Gundna and Samreena Bano daughter of Ghulam Nabi Shah R/o Mohalla Faridabad, Doda.Meanwhile, police claimed to have killed a LeT militant in north Kashmir's Kupwara district. In another incident, a soldier shot himself dead with his service weapon in the border district of Rajouri.The deceased has been identified as Sepoy Swapnil Wadne of 268 Medium Regiment and a resident of Maharastra.

May 29: The trooper, injured during an exchange of fire with militants at Hanuman Tekri area at Line of Control in Keran on May 27 night, succumbed to his injuries on 29 May, police said.

May 30: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of valley.
May 31:A militant was killed in a gunfight with troops in Karen Kupwara. Meanwhile, an Army jawan allegedly committed suicide at Pagwal in Akhnoor. He was identified as Havaldar Jaspal Singh of 14 Sikh Light Infantry.

ATTACKS ON KASHMIRIS IN TIHAR


CJM ASKS JAIL SUPERINTENDENT TO EXPLAIN





May 5: The Chief Judicial Magistrate on May 5 took a serious note of the attacks on Kashmiri detainees at Tihar jail in New Delhi by blade baaz and asked the jail superintendent to explain why such incidents were taking place there. 


Taking notice of the complaint of Muhammad Ahsan Untoo, a human rights activist lodged in the Tihar jail, the Judge asked the Tihar jail superintendent to explain his position about the complaint.  


	Untoo who was brought in connection with his trial told the Judge that professional criminals lodged in the jail were attacking the Kashmiri inmates. “A number of detainees have been injured by the blade baaz group working in the jail. The inmates are at danger,” he said.


	He told the court through his counsel Muhammad Abdullah Pandit that attempts on his life have been made by these professional criminals in the jail. “In one of the recent incidents we were attacked by the criminals when we were on a way for hearing in New Delhi,” Untoo said.


	He revealed that nearly 100 blade baaz are active in the jail and are always on the prowl. They intimidate us and even beat us. They possess sharp edged blade type tools as weapons. “We’ve informed the Jailor on many occasions but till date they haven’t been disarmed,” he said.  


	Untoo solicited transfer of Kashmiri prisoners to Valley jails. Advocate Pandit pleading Untoo’s case told media that during the recent visit of the members of  Kashmir Bar Association to Tihar the detainees complained of the attacks. “We also raised the matter with the jail superintendent. It seems no action has been taken as yet,” Pandit added. 


	“These people are professional criminals. In order to ensure a free ration and accommodation in the jail they commit crimes within the jail. The crimes invoke punishment and they succeed in their designs. Their actions sometimes end up in major fatalities,” he said.





DISTRICT WISE STATEMENT OF KASHMIRI PUNDIT’S KILLED SINCE 1989 TO MARCH 2007


S/No �
District 


�
No. Of Cases Registered


�
No. Of Persons Killed�
�
01.�
Srinagar�
72�
82�
�
02.�
Budgam�
10�
16�
�
03.�
Ganderbal�
5�
28�
�
04.�
Baramulla�
11�
11�
�
05.�
Kupwara�
4�
4�
�
06.�
Handwara�
3�
4�
�
07.�
Anantnag�
13�
16�
�
08.�
Pulwama�
4�
28�
�
09.�
Kulgam�
15�
17�
�
10.�
Awantipora�
3�
3�
�
�
Total �
140�
209�
�






 August 2007: HUGE ARMY DEPOT EXPLODES


INJURED 200, 100 MISSING


800 HOUSES GUTTED; CATTLE PERISH, FIELDS DESTROYED


More then eighteen persons were killed and two hundred persons injured in the continuous explosion of ammunition rocking in the area. Around 800 residential houses, nine mosques, a shrine and a temple are said to be damaged due to the incident; where as crops and orchards worth crores of rupees have been destroyed.

















Even at times, I would myself maintain silence, thinking that as soon as the ordeal would be over, I would return home and narrate every incident to my family and weep bitterly to overcome this bitterness which I was experiencing. Thereafter the worst happened which I had never imagined.
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